

On current-squared flows and ModMax theories

Christian Ferko^{1*}, Liam Smith^{2†} and Gabriele Tartaglino-Mazzucchelli^{2‡}

Center for Quantum Mathematics and Physics (QMAP), Department of Physics & Astronomy, University of California, Davis, CA 95616, USA
 School of Mathematics and Physics, University of Queensland, St Lucia, Brisbane, Queensland 4072, Australia

* caferko@ucdavis.edu, † liam.smith1@uq.net.au, ‡ g.tartaglino-mazzucchelli@uq.edu.au

Abstract

We show that the recently introduced ModMax theory of electrodynamics and its Born-Infeld-like generalization are related by a flow equation driven by a quadratic combination of stress-energy tensors. The operator associated to this flow is a 4d analogue of the $T\overline{T}$ deformation in two dimensions. This result generalizes the observation that the ordinary Born-Infeld Lagrangian is related to the free Maxwell theory by a current-squared flow. As in that case, we show that no analogous relationship holds in any other dimension besides d=4. We also demonstrate that the $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetric version of the ModMax-Born-Infeld theory obeys a related supercurrent-squared flow which is formulated directly in $\mathcal{N}=1$ superspace.

Copyright C. Ferko *et al*.

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License.

Published by the SciPost Foundation.

Received 27-04-2022 Accepted 12-07-2022 Published 04-08-2022



doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.13.2.012

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	ModMax-BI is a T^2 flow	5
3	Derivation from T^2 Master Flow Equation	7
	3.1 Review of General Flow Equation	7
	3.2 Application to ModMax-BI Theory	9
	3.3 No ModMax-BI Solutions to T^2 Flows in $d > 4$	11
4	Supersymmetric ModMax-BI is a supercurrent-squared flow	14
	4.1 Review of the Bagger-Galperin Lagrangian flow and the $d=4$, $\mathcal{N}=1$ super-	
	current squared operator	15
	4.2 The Born-Infeld-ModMax case	16
5	Conclusion	19
A	Proof of Determinant Condition	21
В	General T^2 Flows for Scalar Theories	23



References			
B.3	Other Stress Tensor Flows in $d = 4$	27	
B.2	General Analysis of $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$ Flows	25	
	Master Flow Equation for Scalars	24	

1 Introduction

Since 2016 there has been a wide range of activities surrounding the study of d=2 quantum field theories deformed by the irrelevant $T\overline{T}$ operator [1–3]. Such operator is defined as the determinant of the stress-energy tensor, $O_{T\overline{T}} \propto \det T_{\mu\nu}$, which in d=2 is equivalent to the following quadratic combination

$$O_{T\overline{T}} \propto \left(T^{\mu\nu}T_{\mu\nu} - \Theta^2\right), \quad \Theta := T^{\mu}_{\mu}.$$
 (1.1)

Despite being irrelevant, the local operator $O_{T\overline{T}}$ proves to be quantum mechanically well defined [1,2] and to preserve many of the symmetries of the seed theory, including integrability [2,4,5], and supersymmetry [6–9]. By now the field of research surrounding $T\overline{T}$ -like deformations contains a large body of literature which we will not attempt to review in detail here. Instead we refer the reader to [10] for a pedagogical introduction to the subject.

Within this context, the main focus of this paper concerns classical Lagrangian flows triggered by current-squared $T\overline{T}$ -like operators. The $T\overline{T}$ deformation of a two-dimensional theory leads to a classical flow equation for the deformed Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_{λ} of the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \mathcal{L}_{\lambda} = -\frac{1}{8} O_{T\overline{T}} \propto \det \left(T_{\mu\nu} [\mathcal{L}_{\lambda}] \right), \tag{1.2}$$

where $T_{\mu\nu}[\mathcal{L}_{\lambda}]$ is the stress-energy tensor for the deformed theory at value λ of the flow parameter. Solving this type of flow equation proves, on the one hand, to be a fairly involved task even for classical systems, and in the last few years various direct, geometric, and string theory inspired techniques have been developed to tackle this problem [3,6,7,11–19]. On the other hand, the solutions to such flows lead to surprising and remarkable results. The simplest example, that was considered for the first time in [3], is the deformation of the Lagrangian of a free real scalar field in d=2 dimensions. The undeformed Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_0 = \frac{1}{2} \partial^{\mu} \phi \, \partial_{\mu} \phi \,. \tag{1.3}$$

The deformed Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_{Λ} satisfying (1.2) was shown to be [3] (see also [11])

$$\mathcal{L}_{\lambda} = -\frac{1}{2\lambda} + \frac{1}{2\lambda} \sqrt{1 + 2\lambda \partial^{\mu} \phi \, \partial_{\mu} \phi} \,, \tag{1.4}$$

which is the gauge-fixed Nambu-Goto Lagrangian for a string with tension determined by λ . This simple result is one of the many links that $T\overline{T}$ deformations have found with string theory, see e.g. [6,14,18,20-24], and shows how these deformations can be used to shed new light on the realm of non-local quantum field theories. The result (1.4) was also extended to the supersymmetric case, where $\mathcal{N}=(0,1),(1,1),(0,2)$ and (2,2) supersymmetric extensions of the Nambu-Goto string were proven to be $T\overline{T}$ -flows [6-9,15,25]. Such proofs made use of



manifestly supersymmetric forms of $T\overline{T}$ formulated in superspace in terms of supercurrent-squared operators [6–9].

Extensions of the Lagrangian flow (1.2) in terms of operators defined by squared combinations of the stress-energy tensor have been considered also in d > 2. One notable example is the proposal of [27,28] that arises from an holographic interpretation of $T\bar{T}$ -like deformations in $d \ge 2$. Another very surprising and inspiring example is the flow equation that has been discovered in [13] for the Maxwell-Born-Infeld theory. Its Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{BI} = \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \left\{ 1 - \sqrt{1 + \frac{\alpha^2}{2} F^2 - \frac{\alpha^4}{16} (F\tilde{F})^2} \right\}, \tag{1.5a}$$

was in fact shown to be a deformation of the free Maxwell Lagrangian as follows:

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{BI}}{\partial \alpha^2} = \frac{1}{8} \left(T^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \Theta^2 \right), \qquad \mathcal{L}_{BI} \Big|_{\alpha^2 = 0} = -\frac{1}{4} F^2 = \mathcal{L}_{Maxwell}. \tag{1.5b}$$

Extensions of this result were considered in [25, 29, 30]. For instance, a manifestly supersymmetric extension of the flow equation (1.5b) was proven in [25] to hold for the 4d, $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetric Maxwell-Born-Infeld theory proposed by Bagger and Galperin in [31]. The (supersymmetric) Born-Infeld theory is of great importance due to its role in the low-energy, effective description of brane systems in string theory. From this point of view, the flow (1.5b) reads as a 4d extension of the 2d Nambu-Goto case and raises questions about whether current-squared flows might be a universal feature of string theory yet to be uncovered.

One of the well-known features that characterises Maxwell theory, together with its Born-Infeld extension, is invariance under electro-magnetic duality, a property which is also shared by its Bagger-Galperin supersymmetric extension. This U(1) duality symmetry can be thought of as a phase rotation of a complex combination of the field strength $F_{\mu\nu}$ and its dual $\widetilde{F}^{\mu\nu}=\frac{1}{2}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}F_{\rho\sigma}$:

$$F_{\mu\nu} + i\widetilde{F}_{\mu\nu} \longrightarrow e^{i\theta} \left(F_{\mu\nu} + i\widetilde{F}_{\mu\nu} \right).$$
 (1.6)

It is natural to ask whether there are other theories of electromagnetism which also exhibit such eletro-magnetic symmetry (1.6). In this context, recently it was discovered in [32] (see also [33]) that there is a unique one-parameter family of Lorentz invariant modifications of the Maxwell Lagrangian in d=4 which preserve both duality invariance and conformal symmetry. This unique deformation is called the Modified Maxwell (or ModMax) theory and is described by the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{ModMax}} = -\frac{1}{4}\cosh(\gamma)F^2 + \frac{1}{4}\sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{(F^2)^2 + (F\widetilde{F})^2}.$$
 (1.7)

Here γ is a dimensionless real parameter that controls the deformation; when $\gamma=0$, the Lagrangian (1.7) reduces to the usual Maxwell theory. Since the equations of motion for Maxwell theory are duality invariant, and because the combination under the square root in (1.7) is proportional to $z_{\mu\nu}z^{\mu\nu}\overline{z}^{\rho\sigma}\overline{z}_{\rho\sigma}$ where $z_{\mu\nu}=F_{\mu\nu}+i\widetilde{F}_{\mu\nu}$, the ModMax theory is also invariant under U(1) duality rotations (1.6). Note that study of duality invariant models, with and without supersymmetry, has a very long history. We refer the reader to the following (incomplete) list of papers and references therein [32–49]. For a pedagogical introduction to theories of non-linear electrodynamics such as ModMax, see [50].

¹Unlike the d=2 case, it is not known whether such classical flows correspond to well-defined operators at the quantum mechanical level. Understanding the quantum properties of T^2 flows in d>2, perhaps with additional assumptions such as maximal supersymmetry, remains an important open question. Related interesting developments in this direction were obtained for d=4, $\mathcal{N}=4$ SYM in [26].



Due to the presence of the square root in (1.7), one is tempted to compare ModMax with the Maxwell-Born-Infeld theory (1.5a). However, it is clear that the ModMax theory of electrodynamics is qualitatively quite different from the Born-Infeld theory and not only because one is conformal and the other is not. Although both Lagrangians involve square roots, the Born-Infeld Lagrangian (1.5a) can be Taylor expanded around small field strength to yield the Maxwell Lagrangian plus an infinite series of higher-derivative corrections. But since the square root appearing in the ModMax Lagrangian (1.7) is not of the form $\sqrt{1+x}$ for some quantity x involving field strengths (in fact it is non-analytic at z=0), ModMax does not admit a derivative expansion of the same form. Of course, the Born-Infeld-like extension of ModMax [46], which we will define shortly, does possess an α^2 -type expansion, and this theory will be the main focus of our discussion.

There are other interesting properties of the ModMax theory that have recently been investigated — we will mention a few. Although the theory exhibits superluminal propagation when the deformation parameter γ is negative, for $\gamma \geq 0$ it has well-behaved plane wave solutions. In particular, small-amplitude waves in the ModMax theory obey a polarization-dependent dispersion relation (birefringence), unlike the Born-Infeld theory. The ModMax theory has been shown to descend, via dimensional reduction, from a 6d theory of a chiral 2-form which can be described by a modified version of the Pasti-Sorokin-Tonin (PST) action [46]; for details on the original PST theory see [51–53]. Black hole solutions which are the analogues of the Reissner–Nordström black hole, but which are electrically charged under a gauge field described by ModMax, have been studied in [54–60].

Directly relevant for this paper are the Born-Infeld-like extensions of the 4d ModMax theory that have been constructed in [46] and then supersymmetrised in [47, 48], see [61] for the $\mathcal{N}=2$ case, obtaining an explicit example of the infinite class of supersymmetric duality invariant models defined in [39–44]. Written in terms of the γ and α^2 parameters, the Lagrangian for the Born-Infeld-ModMax theory takes the following form

$$\mathcal{L}_{\gamma \text{BI}} = \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \left\{ 1 - \sqrt{1 + \frac{\alpha^2}{2} \left[\cosh(\gamma) F^2 - \sinh(\gamma) \sqrt{(F^2)^2 + (F\widetilde{F})^2} \right] - \frac{\alpha^4}{16} (F\widetilde{F})^2} \right\}. \tag{1.8}$$

Considering the flow equations described in eq. (1.5b) for the Maxwell-Born-Infeld theory, together with its supersymmetric extension of [25], it is natural to wonder whether the whole one parameter family of Born-Infeld-like ModMax theories satisfies a T^2 -like flow equation both in the non-supersymmetric and supersymmetric cases. The main purpose of this paper is in fact to analyse this query and to provide an affirmative answer to the following question: is the (supersymmetric) ModMax-BI Lagrangian satisfying a T^2 -like flow for any γ ? An intuition that this might be the case comes from the the auxiliary field formulation of duality invariant theories [38, 62], see [44] for the supersymmetric case. In this framework, Maxwell theory with $\gamma = 0$ does not seem to have any special property compared to the ModMax case with $\gamma \neq 0$ [48,61]. This suggests that, if a Lagrangian flow exists for $\gamma = 0$ it should then exist for any γ , as we will indeed prove explicitly in our paper for the non-supersymmetric and $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric cases.

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we verify by direct computation that the Born-Infeld extension of the ModMax theory satisfies a T^2 flow for any value of the parameter γ . Section 3 then provides a different proof of this fact which begins from a general equation that applies to T^2 flows for Abelian gauge theories in any spacetime dimension. In Section 4, we extend this analysis to the case with $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetry, demonstrating that the supersymmetric extension of the ModMax-BI theory satisfies a supercurrent-squared flow equation which is the superspace analogue of the ordinary T^2 deformation. Section 5 summarizes these results and identifies some directions for future research. We also include two Appendices; in the first we elaborate on the equivalence of T^2 operators and $\sqrt{\det(T_{uv})}$ in d=4, and in the



second we derive a general flow equation for T^2 flows in scalar theories for any spacetime dimension.

Note Added: During the preparation of this work the interesting paper [63] appeared with the overlapping result for the non-supersymmetric Born-Infeld like deformation of ModMax as a stress-tensor squared deformation. Interestingly, the authors of [63] also identified an operator which is a functional of the stress-energy tensor of ModMax-BI that triggers classically marginal (though non-analytic) deformations associated with the parameter γ . The supersymmetric extension of this result is an interesting venue for future research.

2 ModMax-BI is a T^2 flow

In [13] it was proven that the Maxwell-Born-Infeld theory with Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_{BI} ,

$$S_{\text{BI}} = \int d^4x \, \mathcal{L}_{\text{BI}} = \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \int d^4x \left[1 - \sqrt{-\det(\eta_{\mu\nu} + \alpha F_{\mu\nu})} \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \int d^4x \left[1 - \sqrt{1 + \frac{\alpha^2}{2} F^2 - \frac{\alpha^4}{16} (F\tilde{F})^2} \right]$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4} \int d^4x \, F^2 + \text{higher derivative terms}, \qquad (2.1)$$

satisfies the following flow equation with respect to the α^2 parameter:

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{BI}}{\partial \alpha^2} = \frac{1}{8} O_{T^2} \,. \tag{2.2}$$

The operator O_{T^2} is defined as

$$O_{T^2} \equiv T^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \Theta^2, \qquad \Theta \equiv T^{\mu}_{\mu},$$
 (2.3)

where $T^{\mu\nu}$ is the symmetric and conserved stress-energy tensor of the Maxwell-Born-Infeld theory. The previous composite operator is one of the representatives of an infinite family of stress-tensor squared operators of the following form:

$$O_{T^2}^{[r]} = T^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} - r \Theta^2.$$
 (2.4)

These are defined for any real constant parameter r and stress-energy tensor of a relativistic QFT in d-dimensions. We will discuss some more examples in the next section. However, it is worth reminding that for d=2 and r=1, $O_{T^2}^{[1]}$ is the $T\bar{T}$ operator, which is proportional to $\det[T_{\mu\nu}]$, see [1-3]. In d>2 it is still an open question whether there are operators that play the same role as $T\bar{T}$, and share the same remarkable properties. Notable proposals for extensions of $T\bar{T}$ in d>2 are $O_{T^2}^{[1/(d-1)]}$ in d-dimensions, that were motivated from bulk cut-off holography [27,28]. Rather than deforming a QFT by a flow triggered by generic $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$ (we will elaborate on general flows in the next section), in this section we are interested to check whether the Born-Infeld-like extension of the ModMax theory [32] satisfies a stress-tensor squared flow for a specific value of r. We will explicitly show that this is the case for r=1/2, exactly as for the Born-Infeld Lagrangian (2.1).

The Born-Infeld-like extension of ModMax is defined by the following Lagrangian²

$$\mathcal{L}_{\gamma \text{BI}} = t - \sqrt{t^2 - 2t \left[\cosh(\gamma)S + \sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{S^2 + P^2} \right] - P^2}, \tag{2.5}$$

²The parameter t is the same as T of [32].



where

$$S = -\frac{1}{4}F^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}, \quad P = -\frac{1}{4}F_{\mu\nu}\tilde{F}^{\mu\nu}, \quad \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\tau}F_{\lambda\tau}, \tag{2.6}$$

and $F_{\mu\nu} = (\partial_{\mu}v_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}v_{\mu})$ is the field strength for an Abelian gauge field v_{μ} . The $t \to +\infty$ limit leads to the ModMax Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{ModMax}} = \cosh(\gamma)S + \sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{S^2 + P^2}.$$
 (2.7)

For $\gamma=0$, and after identifying $t=1/\alpha^2$, the Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_{\gamma BI}$ in eq. (2.5) turns into the Maxwell-Born-Infeld Lagrangian (2.1).

After minimally coupling the Born-Infeld-ModMax Lagrangian to a metric $g^{\mu\nu}$, it is a straightforward exercise to derive the Hilbert stress-energy tensor, given by³

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{\gamma \text{BI}} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S_{\gamma \text{BI}}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}},\tag{2.8}$$

for (2.5). The result can be written as

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{\gamma \text{BI}} = \eta_{\mu\nu} f_1(S, P) + f_2(S, P) F_{\mu}^{\ \lambda} F_{\nu\lambda},$$
 (2.9)

where the two functions $f_1(S, P)$ and $f_2(S, P)$ are defined as:

$$f_1(S,P) = \frac{t\left(-t + 2\cosh(\gamma)S + \sinh(\gamma)\frac{P^2 + 2S^2}{\sqrt{S^2 + P^2}}\right)}{\sqrt{t^2 - 2t\left[\cosh(\gamma)S + \sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{S^2 + P^2}\right] - P^2}} + t, \qquad (2.10)$$

$$f_2(S,P) = \frac{t\left(\cosh(\gamma) + \sinh(\gamma) \frac{S}{\sqrt{S^2 + P^2}}\right)}{\sqrt{t^2 - 2t\left[\cosh(\gamma)S + \sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{S^2 + P^2}\right] - P^2}}.$$
 (2.11)

The trace of the stress-energy tensor is

$$\Theta = \Theta(S, P) = \frac{4t \left(\cosh(\gamma)S + \sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{S^2 + P^2} - t \right)}{\sqrt{t^2 - 2t \left[\cosh(\gamma)S + \sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{S^2 + P^2} \right] - P^2}} + 4t. \tag{2.12}$$

It is worth underlining that the stress-energy tensor for the Born-Infeld-ModMax theory presented above is invariant under U(1) electro-magnetic duality transformations. This indicates that any deformation triggered by composite operators defined only in terms of the stress-energy tensor should remain electro-magnetic invariant.

Let us compute explicitly the O_{T^2} operator, eq. (2.3). Thanks to the identity

$$(F\tilde{F})^2 = \frac{1}{4} (\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} F^{\mu\nu} F^{\rho\sigma})^2 = 4F_{\mu\nu} F^{\nu\rho} F_{\rho\sigma} F^{\sigma\mu} - 2(F^2)^2, \qquad (2.13)$$

which implies

$$F_{\mu\nu}F^{\nu\rho}F_{\rho\sigma}F^{\sigma\mu} = 8S^2 + 4P^2, \qquad (2.14)$$

the O_{T^2} operator takes the form

$$O_{T^2} = 4f_1^2 + 4f_2^2 (2S^2 + P^2) - 8f_1 f_2 S - \frac{1}{2} \Theta^2,$$
 (2.15)

 $^{^{3}}$ In this subsection we work in a d=4 Lorentzian space-time with mostly plus metric signature.



which, after plugging in the explicit expressions for $f_1(S, P)$, $f_2(S, P)$, and $\Theta(S, P)$, simplifies to

$$O_{T^{2}} = \frac{8t^{2}}{(t - \mathcal{L}_{\gamma BI})^{3}} \left\{ t^{3} - 2P^{2}t + t \cosh(2\gamma)(P^{2} + 2S^{2}) + \cosh(\gamma)S(P^{2} - 3t^{2}) + \sqrt{S^{2} + P^{2}} \left[2 \sinh(2\gamma)St + \sinh(\gamma)(P^{2} - 3t^{2}) \right] \right\} + \frac{8t^{2}}{(t - \mathcal{L}_{\gamma BI})^{2}} \left\{ P^{2} - t^{2} + 2t \sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{S^{2} + P^{2}} + 2t \cosh(\gamma)S \right\},$$
 (2.16)

where

$$t - \mathcal{L}_{\gamma \text{BI}} = \sqrt{t^2 - 2t \left[\cosh(\gamma)S + \sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{S^2 + P^2} \right] - P^2}. \tag{2.17}$$

Despite the seemingly involved expression, it is straightforward to directly check that (2.16) is the same as a derivative with respect to t, or equivalently with respect to $\alpha^2 = 1/t$, of the Born-Infeld-ModMax Lagrangian. More specifically, it holds

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\gamma BI}}{\partial \alpha^2} = \frac{1}{8} O_{T^2} \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\gamma BI}}{\partial t} = -\frac{1}{8t^2} O_{T^2}. \tag{2.18}$$

This remarkably shows that the stress-tensor squared operator leading the flow is the same for any value of γ .

3 Derivation from T^2 Master Flow Equation

We have seen in Section 2 that the Born-Infeld-like extension of the ModMax Lagrangian can be shown, via direct computation, to satisfy a $T\overline{T}$ -like flow. In this section, we will present a complementary derivation of this result which begins from a general differential equation for T^2 flows involving an Abelian gauge theory in arbitrary spacetime dimension. We now briefly review this general flow equation, which first appeared in [30].

3.1 Review of General Flow Equation

For simplicity, in this section we will work in Euclidean signature.⁴ In d spacetime dimensions the field strength $F_{\mu\nu}$ associated with an Abelian gauge field v_{μ} can be thought of as a $d \times d$ matrix whose indices are raised or lowered with $\delta_{\mu\nu}$. By the Cayley-Hamilton theorem, every such matrix obeys its characteristic equation

$$p(M) = M^d + c_{d-1}M^{d-1} + \dots + c_1M + (-1)^d \det(M)\mathbb{I}_d = 0,$$
(3.1)

where \mathbb{I}_d is the $d \times d$ identity matrix. The constants c_i are given by

$$c_{i} = \sum_{\{k_{l}\}} \prod_{l=1}^{d} \frac{(-1)^{k_{l}+1}}{l^{k_{l}} k_{l}!} \left[\operatorname{tr}(M^{l}) \right]^{k_{l}},$$
 (3.2)

where the sum runs over all sets of non-negative integers k_1 which satisfy

$$\sum_{l=1}^{d} lk_l = d - i. {(3.3)}$$

⁴Our conventions follow those in Section 7.2.1 of [30], to which we refer the reader for more details. In particular, the choice of Euclidian signature in this section is made merely for convenience and does not substantively affect any of the results.



Because these c_i are determined in terms of the lower traces $tr(M^j)$ for $j = 1, \dots, d$, equation (3.1) places a limit on the number of independent trace structures that a $d \times d$ matrix may have. In particular, given all of the traces

$$tr(M), tr(M^2), \cdots, tr(M^d), \tag{3.4}$$

it follows that all higher traces $\operatorname{tr}(M^n)$ for n>d can then be expressed in terms of the lower traces. We now restrict to the case of an antisymmetric matrix, appropriate for a field strength $F_{\mu\nu}$. The trace of any odd power of such a matrix vanishes, so a general scalar quantity built from $F_{\mu\nu}$ in d dimensions can be expressed in terms of the independent traces $\operatorname{tr}(F^2)$, $\operatorname{tr}(F^4)$, \cdots , $\operatorname{tr}(F^{2k})$ where $k=\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$. To ease notation, we define

$$x_i = \operatorname{tr}(F^{2i}), \tag{3.5}$$

for $i = 1, \dots, k$.

Now consider a general Lagrangian for an Abelian gauge field with field strength $F_{\mu\nu}$ in d Euclidean spacetime dimensions. Because the Lagrangian is a gauge-invariant scalar, it may therefore be written as a function of the x_i :⁵

$$\mathcal{L}(F) = \mathcal{L}(x_1, \dots, x_k). \tag{3.6}$$

The Hilbert stress-energy tensor associated with this Lagrangian is

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \delta_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{L} - 2 \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_i} \cdot \frac{\delta x_i}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \bigg|_{g=\delta}.$$
 (3.7)

Computing the metric derivative of one of the x_i gives

$$\frac{\delta x_j}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} = 2jF_{\mu\nu}^{2j},\tag{3.8}$$

where we have introduced the notation

$$F_{\mu\nu}^{2j} = g^{\alpha_1\beta_1} \cdots g^{\alpha_{2j-1}\beta_{2j-1}} F_{\mu\alpha_1} F_{\beta_1\alpha_2} \cdots F_{\beta_{2j-2}\alpha_{2j-1}} F_{\beta_{2j-1}\nu}. \tag{3.9}$$

That is, $F_{\mu\nu}^{2j}$ is a product of 2j copies of $F_{\mu\nu}$ with all adjacent indices contracted except for the first and last. Using this in (3.7) yields a general expression for the stress-energy tensor,

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \delta_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{L} - 4 \sum_{i=1}^{k} i \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_i} F_{\mu\nu}^{2i}. \tag{3.10}$$

The bilinears which appear in general T^2 flows are then

$$\begin{split} T^{\mu\nu}T_{\mu\nu} &= \mathcal{L}^2 d - 8\mathcal{L} \sum_{i=1}^k i \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_i} \operatorname{tr}(F^{2i}) + 16 \sum_{i,j=1}^k i j \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_j} F^{2i,\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}^{2j}, \\ \left(T^{\mu}_{\ \mu}\right)^2 &= \mathcal{L}^2 d^2 - 8\mathcal{L} d \sum_{i=1}^k i \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_i} \operatorname{tr}(F^{2i}) + 16 \sum_{i,j=1}^k i j \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_j} \operatorname{tr}(F^{2i}) \operatorname{tr}(F^{2j}). \end{split}$$

 $^{^{5}}$ In this paper we only consider manifestly gauge invariant Lagrangians of the form (3.6). In odd dimension it might be interesting to extend this ansatz and study flows involving terms that depend on both F and Chern-Simons-like couplings. Note however that an ordinary Chern-Simons term is purely topological and would not contribute to the stress tensor.



A general flow by the operator $O_{T_2}^{[r]}$ defined in (2.4), described by the differential equation

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} = T^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} - r \left(T^{\mu}_{\ \mu} \right)^2, \tag{3.11}$$

can therefore be written in terms of the x_i as

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} = (1 - rd)d\mathcal{L}^2 - 8\mathcal{L}(1 - rd)\sum_{i=1}^k i \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_i} x_i + 16\sum_{i,j=1}^k i j \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_j} \left(x_{i+j} - rx_i x_j \right). \tag{3.12}$$

We will refer to (3.12) as the master flow equation, since it describes a general T^2 flow for a theory of a single Abelian field strength in d dimensions. However, we note that (3.12) is not expressed in terms of the k independent trace structures x_1, \dots, x_k , since the quantity involving x_{i+j} will introduce dependence on the higher traces. In applications of the master flow equations we must eliminate these variables in favor of the lower traces using the Cayley-Hamilton theorem, which produces dimension-dependent numerical factors.

We end this subsection by commenting on a condition regarding the stress-energy tensors for Abelian gauge theories, which is easy to understand using the formalism we have just reviewed. It was pointed out in [13] that the stress-energy tensor $T^{(\mathrm{BI})}$ for the Born-Infeld theory in four dimensions satisfies the condition

$$\sqrt{\det\left(T^{(\mathrm{BI})}\right)} = \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}\left(T^{(\mathrm{BI})}\right)^{2} - \operatorname{tr}\left(\left(T^{(\mathrm{BI})}\right)^{2}\right)\right). \tag{3.13}$$

Note that deformations driven by the determinant of the stress-energy tensor in higher dimensions appeared also in [11,64] were the operator $[\det(T)]^{1/(d-1)}$ was proposed as a $T\overline{T}$ -like deformations in d dimensions. At first sight, equation (3.13) seems like a fairly special constraint which might be related to the fact that the Born-Infeld Lagrangian satisfies a T^2 flow in d=4. Indeed, the combination of stress-energy tensor bilinears appearing on the right side of (3.13) is proportional to O_{T^2} and the determinant of the energy-momentum tensor is what defines the usual $T\overline{T}$ operator in two dimensions, so this constraint naively appears connected to this family of stress-energy tensor deformations.

However, the condition (3.13) in fact holds for the stress-energy tensor of *any* theory of an Abelian field strength in four spacetime dimensions (including, of course, the ModMax Lagrangian and its ModMax-BI generalization). The proof of this fact is a simple linear algebra exercise, which we have relegated to Appendix A, and relies only on the form of the Hilbert stress-energy tensor and the fact that the field strength $F_{\mu\nu}$ is antisymmetric. The upshot of this result is that we are free to think of our T^2 flow as being driven by the operator O_{T^2} defined in (2.3), or by the operator $\sqrt{\det(T)}$, up to an overall constant scaling, when we are considering deformations of four-dimensional gauge theories.

3.2 Application to ModMax-BI Theory

We now specialize to the case of d=4 spacetime dimensions, appropriate for the ModMax theory and its Born-Infeld-like extension. In this case, the two independent scalars that can be constructed from the field strength $F_{\mu\nu}$ are

$$x_1 = F_{\mu\nu}F^{\nu\mu} = \text{tr}(F^2), \qquad x_2 = F^{\mu\sigma}F_{\sigma}^{\ \nu}F_{\nu}^{\ \rho}F_{\rho\mu} = \text{tr}(F^4).$$
 (3.14)

As we mentioned above, the master flow equation (3.12) will introduce dependence on the two higher traces $x_3 = \text{tr}(F^6)$ and $x_4 = \text{tr}(F^8)$. We must therefore eliminate these in terms of



 x_1 and x_2 . The constraint implied by the Cayley-Hamilton theorem (3.1) for a 4 × 4 matrix M is

$$0 = M^{4} - (\operatorname{tr}(M))M^{3} + \frac{1}{2} ((\operatorname{tr}(M))^{2} - \operatorname{tr}(M^{2}))M^{2}$$
$$-\frac{1}{6} ((\operatorname{tr}(M))^{3} - 3\operatorname{tr}(M^{2})\operatorname{tr}(M) + 2\operatorname{tr}(M^{3}))M + \operatorname{det}(M)\mathbb{I}_{4}.$$
(3.15)

We first take the trace of equation (3.15) and solve for the determinant to find

$$\det(M) = \frac{1}{24} \left((\operatorname{tr} M)^4 - 6\operatorname{tr}(M^2)(\operatorname{tr} M)^2 + 3\left(\operatorname{tr} M^2\right)^2 + 8\operatorname{tr}(M)\operatorname{tr}(M^3) - 6\operatorname{tr}(M^4) \right). \quad (3.16)$$

Replacing M with the antisymmetric matrix F, so that traces of odd powers vanish, gives

$$\det(F) = \frac{1}{8} \left(\text{tr}(F^2) \right)^2 - \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{tr}(F^4). \tag{3.17}$$

If we had first multiplied equation (3.15) by M^2 or by M^4 before taking the trace, we would have obtained the conditions

$$tr(F^{6}) = \frac{1}{2}tr(F^{2})tr(F^{4}) - det(F)tr(F^{2}),$$
(3.18a)

$$tr(F^8) = \frac{1}{2}tr(F^2)tr(F^6) - det(F)tr(F^4).$$
 (3.18b)

This system of equations can be solved and written in terms of the variables $x_i = tr(F^{2i})$, which yields

$$x_3 = -\frac{1}{8}x_1(x_1^2 - 6x_2), \qquad x_4 = -\frac{1}{16}(x_1^4 - 4x_1^2x_2 - 4x_2^2).$$
 (3.19)

Substituting the expressions (3.19) into the master flow equation (3.12) and setting d=4, we obtain the general differential equation

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} = (4 - 16r) \mathcal{L}^2 - 8(1 - 4r) \mathcal{L} \left(x_1 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_1} + 2x_2 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_2} \right) + 16 \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_1} \right)^2 \left(x_2 - rx_1^2 \right) \\
+ 16 \left(-\frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_2} x_1 \left(x_1^2 - 6x_2 + 8rx_2 \right) + \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_2} \right)^2 \left(-\frac{1}{4} x_1^4 + x_1^2 x_2 + (1 - 4r) x_2^2 \right) \right). \tag{3.20}$$

We now wish to show that equation (3.20) admits a solution which reduces to the ModMax theory when $\lambda=0$, and that this solution exists only for the value $r=\frac{1}{2}$ of the relative coefficient in the deformation. We do this by first making a slightly more general ansatz and then demonstrating that consistency with the flow equation requires the ansatz to take exactly the form of the ModMax-BI Lagrangian.

More precisely, we begin by making an ansatz of the form⁶

$$\mathcal{L}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\alpha\lambda} \left(\sqrt{1 + 2\alpha\lambda (e^{-\gamma}u(x_1, x_2) + e^{\gamma}v(x_1, x_2)) + 4\alpha^2\lambda^2 u(x_1, x_2)v(x_1, x_2)} - 1 \right), \quad (3.21)$$

and we further assume that the functions u, v can be written as a sum and difference as

$$u(x_1, x_2) = \beta x_1 + w(x_1, x_2), \qquad v(x_1, x_2) = \beta x_1 - w(x_1, x_2).$$
 (3.22)

⁶Do not confuse the numerical constant α used in this section with the dimensionful coupling constant α^2 in sections 1, 2 and 4 of the paper, as, for example, in equations (1.5a) and (1.8).



At this stage, $w(x_1, x_2)$ is an arbitrary function of the two scalars that can be constructed from $F_{\mu\nu}$, while α, β are undetermined numerical constants. We now obtain constraints on these quantities from consistency with the master flow equation in d=4. From demanding that the ansatz (3.21) be consistent with the differential equation (3.20) at zeroth order in both λ and γ , one finds that the function w must be

$$w(x_1, x_2) = \frac{2\sqrt{2}\beta}{\sqrt{\alpha}} \sqrt{x_1^2 - 4x_2}.$$
 (3.23)

Substituting this expression for w into the flow equation and then expanding to first order in λ but zeroth order in γ then produces the constraint

$$\alpha = -8. \tag{3.24}$$

Finally, we expand the flow equation to second order in λ and to first order in γ , after using the above results for w and α , and find that the differential equation at this order is satisfied only if

$$r = \frac{1}{2}. (3.25)$$

After imposing these various conditions, we arrive at

$$\mathcal{L}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{8\lambda} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - 32\beta\lambda \left(x_1 \cosh(\gamma) + \sinh(\gamma) \sqrt{4x_2 - x_1^2} \right) + 512\beta^2 \lambda^2 (x_1^2 - 2x_2)} \right). \quad (3.26)$$

This Lagrangian is an exact solution to the 4d master flow equation (3.20) to all orders in λ and γ , and with any choice of the arbitrary constant β . However, to make contact with the preceding section, it is convenient to make a few changes of conventions. First, since (3.26) is a solution for any choice of the normalization β , we are free to choose $\beta = \frac{1}{32}$. Further, we can eliminate the variables $x_1 = \text{tr}(F^2)$ and $x_2 = \text{tr}(F^4)$ in terms of the variables S, P defined in equation (2.6). The dictionary which translates between these variables is

$$x_1 = 4S$$
, $x_2 = 4P^2 + 8S^2$. (3.27)

After making these replacements, we find

$$\mathcal{L}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{8\lambda} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - 4\lambda \left(\cosh(\gamma)S + \sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{S^2 + P^2} \right) - 4P^2\lambda^2} \right). \tag{3.28}$$

This is exactly the form of the Born-Infeld extension of the ModMax Lagrangian which we first defined in equation (2.5) after making the identification $t = \frac{1}{8\lambda}$.

3.3 No ModMax-BI Solutions to T^2 Flows in d > 4

The properties of the ModMax Lagrangian (1.7), and its Born-Infeld extension, are special to four dimensions because they are written in terms of the dual field strength $\tilde{F}_{\mu\nu}$, and the Hodge dual of $F_{\mu\nu}$ would be a higher p-form in d>4 spacetime dimensions. Thus a ModMax-like theory in d>4 would, of course, not exhibit any analogue of duality invariance. However, as a pure statement about T^2 flows, one could ask whether the square-root structure appearing in the ModMax-BI theory is a generic feature of deformations by stress-energy tensor bilinears, or whether it is also special to flows in d=4. We saw in equation (3.26) that the ModMax-BI Lagrangian can be written in the form

$$\mathcal{L}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{8\lambda} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \lambda \left(x_1 \cosh(\gamma) + \sinh(\gamma) \sqrt{4x_2 - x_1^2} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \lambda^2 (x_1^2 - 2x_2)} \right), \quad (3.29)$$



where for convenience we repeat the definitions of the two indpendent scalars x_1, x_2 that can be constructed from a field strength in four dimensions:

$$x_1 = F_{\mu\nu}F^{\nu\mu} = \text{tr}(F^2), \qquad x_2 = F^{\mu\sigma}F_{\sigma}^{\ \nu}F_{\nu}^{\ \rho}F_{\rho\mu} = \text{tr}(F^4).$$
 (3.30)

Although (3.29) is equivalent to the ModMax-BI Lagrangian, it is not written in terms of $\widetilde{F}_{\mu\nu}$ and therefore makes sense in any number of spacetime dimensions $d \ge 4$ (the cases for d < 4 are trivial because x_1 and x_2 are no longer independent). Thus one might ask whether a Lagrangian of the form (3.29) satisfies a T^2 flow in any higher spacetime dimension.⁷

We will now show that the answer to this question is no. Suppose that we make an ansatz for a d-dimensional Lagrangian which is inspired by the ModMax-BI theory and thus only depends on the first two traces x_1, x_2 :

$$\mathcal{L}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\alpha \lambda} \Big(\sqrt{1 + 2\alpha \lambda (e^{-\gamma} u(x_1, x_2) + e^{\gamma} v(x_1, x_2)) + 4\alpha^2 \lambda^2 u(x_1, x_2) v(x_1, x_2)} - 1 \Big).$$
(3.31)

Furthermore, we would like our ansatz to reduce to the free Maxwell action when we take both $\gamma = 0$ and $\lambda = 0$, so we should make the same refinement to our ansatz as in (3.22) for the d = 4 case:

$$u(x_1, x_2) = \beta x_1 + w(x_1, x_2), \qquad v(x_1, x_2) = \beta x_1 - w(x_1, x_2).$$
 (3.32)

When $\lambda = 0$, this reduces to an undeformed theory of the form

$$\mathcal{L}(0) = e^{\gamma} (\beta x_1 - w) + e^{-\gamma} (\beta x_1 + w). \tag{3.33}$$

On dimensional grounds, the function w must be proportional either to x_1 , or to $\sqrt{x_2}$, or to a general combination $\sqrt{c_1x_1^2+c_2x_2}$ which has the same dimension as x_1 . Therefore we will assume that w can be written as

$$w(x_1, x_2) = \sqrt{c_1 x_1^2 + c_2 x_2}, (3.34)$$

which is the same form as in the usual d = 4 ModMax-BI Lagrangian.

We must check whether any choice of the constants α , β , c_1 , c_2 makes this ansatz consistent with the master flow equation (3.12), which we repeat:

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} = (1 - rd)d\mathcal{L}^2 - 8\mathcal{L}(1 - rd)\sum_{i=1}^k i \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_i} x_i + 16\sum_{i,j=1}^k i j \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_j} \left(x_{i+j} - rx_i x_j \right). \tag{3.35}$$

There are two cases to consider.

1. $d \geq 6$. In this case, there is at least one additional independent trace structure x_3 . Because the ansatz (3.31) is a function only of x_1 and x_2 , the left side of the master flow equation is independent of x_3 . However, the right side of the flow equation contains a term $\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_2} x_3$ which is non-zero and depends on x_3 . There is no constraint relating x_3 to other traces in $d \geq 6$, so the two sides cannot be equal and therefore the ansatz does not solve the flow equation.

 $^{^7}$ The analogous question of whether the ordinary Born-Infeld Lagrangian arises from a T^2 flow in d>4 was answered in the negative in [30]. However, the naive generalization (3.31) of ModMax-BI does not reduce to Born-Infeld when $\gamma=0$ except in d=4. Therefore the absence of Born-Infeld solutions to T^2 flows in d>4 does not imply anything about the absence of ModMax-BI solutions.



2. d = 5. In this case, x_3 is not independent of x_1 and x_2 , but rather satisfies

$$x_3 = \frac{3}{4}x_1x_2 - \frac{1}{8}x_1^3, (3.36)$$

by the Cayley-Hamilton theorem. Similarly,

$$x_4 = \frac{1}{16} \left(4x_2^2 + 4x_1^2 x_2 - x_1^4 \right). \tag{3.37}$$

One can substitute these relations into the master flow equation and then impose consistency order-by-order in λ . The constraint which is first order in λ will be satisfied so long as

$$\alpha = 8$$
, $r = 1$, $c_1 = -\beta^2$, $c_2 = 4\beta^2$. (3.38)

However, upon expanding to second order in λ , one finds that the ansatz cannot be made consistent with the flow equation for any non-zero choice of the remaining parameter β .

Therefore we see that the naive generalization (3.31) of the ModMax-BI theory only satisfies a T^2 flow in d = 4, similar to the Born-Infeld action.

Rather than the question that we have addressed above, one could also ask a slightly more general question which exploits the fact that in d > 4 there are more independent scalars than x_1 and x_2 . Thus one might wonder whether a different Lagrangian, which still possesses a square root of the form appearing in (3.29) but whose argument depends on x_1, x_2, x_3 and higher trace structures, satisfies a T^2 flow in higher dimension.

For instance, one could make another ansatz of the form

$$\mathcal{L}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\alpha \lambda} \left(\sqrt{1 + 2\alpha \lambda \left(e^{-\gamma} u(x_i) + e^{\gamma} v(x_i) \right) + 4\alpha^2 \lambda^2 u(x_i) v(x_i)} - 1 \right), \tag{3.39}$$

where the functions $u(x_i)$, $v(x_i)$ now depend on all trace structures x_1, \dots, x_k . We still assume that

$$u(x_1, \dots, x_k) = \beta x_1 + w(x_1, \dots, x_k), \quad v(x_1, \dots, x_k) = \beta x_1 - w(x_1, \dots, x_k), \quad (3.40)$$

but now allow a more general form of the function w, such as

$$w(x_i) = \sqrt[k]{c_1 x_1^k + c_2 x_2 x_1^{k-1} + \dots + c_N x_k},$$
(3.41)

which reduces to our previous ansatz when k=2 and which is again required on dimensional grounds since w must have the same dimension as x_1 . For instance, one could consider a six-dimensional analogue of the ModMax-BI theory where

$$w(x_1, x_2, x_3) = \sqrt[3]{c_1 x_1^3 + c_2 x_1 x_2 + c_3 x_3}.$$
 (3.42)

As an example, we will explicitly check whether the six-dimensional ansatz using (3.42) can solve the master flow equation for any choice of parameters. This will require one additional use of the Cayley-Hamilton theorem, with coefficients appropriate for 6×6 matrices, in order to eliminate higher traces in the master flow equation. In this case, the equation obeyed by the field strength F is

$$0 = F^{6} - \frac{1}{2}x_{1}F^{4} + \frac{1}{8}(x_{1}^{2} - 2x_{2})F^{2} + \det(M)\mathbb{I}_{6} = 0.$$
 (3.43)



By repeatedly using (3.43) in the same way as above, we can express various higher traces in terms of the three independent structures x_1, x_2, x_3 . In particular,

$$x_{4} = \frac{1}{48} \left(x_{1}^{4} - 12x_{1}^{2}x_{2} + 12x_{2}^{2} + 32x_{1}x_{3} \right),$$

$$x_{5} = \frac{1}{96} \left(x_{1}^{5} - 10x_{1}^{3}x_{2} + 20x_{1}^{2}x_{3} + 40x_{2}x_{3} \right),$$

$$x_{6} = \frac{1}{384} \left(x_{1}^{6} - 6x_{1}^{4}x_{2} - 36x_{1}^{2}x_{2}^{2} + 24x_{2}^{3} + 16x_{1}^{3}x_{3} + 96x_{1}x_{2}x_{3} + 64x_{3}^{2} \right). \tag{3.44}$$

We may now substitute these trace expressions into the master flow equation (3.12) and set d = 6. The resulting differential equation is rather unwieldy, but we record it here for completeness:

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} &= 6\mathcal{L}^2 (1 - 6r) + 16 \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_1} \right)^2 \left(x_2 - r x_1^2 \right) + 8\mathcal{L} (6r - 1) \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_1} x_1 + 2 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_2} x_2 + 3 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_3} x_3 \right) \\ &+ \frac{4}{3} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_2} \right)^2 \left(x_1^4 - 12 x_1^2 x_2 + 12 (1 - 4r) x_2^2 + 32 x_1 x_3 \right) \\ &+ \frac{4}{3} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_3} \left(x_1^5 - 10 x_1^3 x_2 + 20 x_1^2 x_3 + 8 (5 - 12r) x_2 x_3 \right) \\ &+ \frac{3}{8} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_3} \right)^2 \left(x_1^6 - 6 x_1^4 x_2 - 36 x_1^2 x_2^2 + 24 x_2^3 + 16 x_1 (x_1^2 + 6 x_2) x_3 + 64 (1 - 6r) x_3^2 \right) \\ &+ 2 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_1} \left(32 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_2} (x_3 - r x_1 x_2) + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_3} (x_1^4 - 12 x_1^2 x_2 + 12 x_2^2 + 16 (2 - 3r) x_1 x_3) \right). \end{split}$$

Upon substituting the ansatz involving the expression w in (3.42) into the 6d master flow equation (3.45), one finds that no choice of the parameters is consistent with the differential equation even at the lowest order in λ and γ . One way to see this is to consider the $\gamma=0$ limit and note that $\mathcal{L}(\lambda=0,\gamma=0)$ is proportional to the Maxwell Lagrangian $x_1=\operatorname{tr}(F^2)$. Therefore, the leading deformation from $T\bar{T}$ will only introduce terms involving x_2 and x_1^2 . But the $\mathcal{O}(\lambda)$ expansion of (3.39) also includes dependence on x_3 (if $c_3\neq 0$), which cannot be consistent since x_3 is independent from x_1 and x_2 . Therefore there is no Lagrangian of this form which satisfies a T^2 flow in six dimensions. A similar argument can be used to show that no other ansatz involving a function $w(x_i)$ as in (3.41) can be consistent with a $T\bar{T}$ flow in any higher number of spacetime dimensions.

This concludes the proof that no obvious analogue of the ModMax-BI theory satisfies a $T\overline{T}$ flow in any dimension other than d=4. It is possible that such a generalized ModMax-BI Lagrangian might obey a flow equation driven by some other combination of stress tensors, such as an operator of the form $(\det T)^p$ for some power p or a scalar built from contractions of three or more copies of $T_{\mu\nu}$. We will not undertake a general analysis of deformations driven by other stress tensor combinations here. However, if it is true that some ModMax-BI-like theory can be viewed as a deformation by some special stress tensor operator other than $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$, one could use this as a principle which identifies a preferred higher-dimensional analogue of the ModMax-BI action.

4 Supersymmetric ModMax-BI is a supercurrent-squared flow

Let us now turn to the d=4, $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetric case. We first review the result of [25] concerning the extension of the flow eq. (2.2) for the supersymmetric Maxwell-Born-Infeld theory introducing the associated supercurrent-squared operator. We will then discuss the



extension to the Born-Infeld-like ModMax theory of [47] and show that the same operator introduced in [25] drives a flow equation with respect to the α^2 parameter.

4.1 Review of the Bagger-Galperin Lagrangian flow and the d=4, $\mathcal{N}=1$ supercurrent squared operator

The supersymmetric extension of the Maxwell-Born-Infeld Lagrangian proposed by Bagger and Galperin in [31] is defined by the following d = 4, $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Lagrangian in superspace:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{susy-BI}} = \frac{1}{4} \left[\int d^2 \theta \, W^2 + \int d^2 \bar{\theta} \, \bar{W}^2 + \int d^2 \theta \, d^2 \bar{\theta} \, \frac{\alpha^2 W^2 \bar{W}^2}{1 - \alpha^2 \, \mathbb{S} + \sqrt{1 - 2\alpha^2 \, \mathbb{S} - \alpha^4 \, \mathbb{P}}} \right]. \tag{4.1}$$

Here the superfields \mathbb{S} and \mathbb{P} are⁸

$$\mathbb{S} = -\frac{1}{16} (D^2 W^2 + \bar{D}^2 \bar{W}^2), \quad \mathbb{P} = \frac{i}{16} (D^2 W^2 - \bar{D}^2 \bar{W}^2), \tag{4.2}$$

with W_{α} , and its conjugate $\bar{W}_{\dot{\alpha}} = (W_{\alpha})^*$, being the superfield strength of a d=4, $\mathcal{N}=1$ Abelian vector multiplet obeying:

$$\bar{D}_{\dot{\beta}}W_{\alpha} = 0, \quad D^{\alpha}W_{\alpha} = \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}}. \tag{4.3}$$

In components, W_{α} has the following expansion in terms of the fields describing the vector multiplet

$$W_{\alpha} = -i\lambda_{\alpha} + \theta_{\alpha}D - i(\sigma^{\mu\nu}\theta)_{\alpha}F_{\mu\nu} + \theta^{2}(\sigma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\bar{\lambda})_{\alpha}, \qquad (4.4)$$

where the complex spinor λ_{α} is the gaugino, D is the real auxiliary field, and $F_{\mu\nu}=2\partial_{[\mu}\nu_{\nu]}$ is the field strength of an Abelian connection ν_{μ} . The superfields $\mathbb S$ and $\mathbb P$ are such that their $\theta=0$ components give S and P of eq. (2.6)

$$\mathbb{S}|_{\theta=0} = S + \frac{1}{2} D^2, \qquad \mathbb{P}|_{\theta=0} = P,$$
 (4.5)

up to a $D = D^{\alpha}W_{\alpha}|_{\theta=0} = \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}}|_{\theta=0}$ term.

In [25] it was shown that the Bagger-Galperin supersymmetric extension of the Maxwell-Born-Infeld theory satisfies a flow equation driven by a supercurrent-squared operator. More precisely, up to an on-shell condition, that we will review and use also in the general ModMax case, the Lagrangian (4.1) was shown to satisfy⁹

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{susy-BI}}}{\partial \alpha^2} = \frac{1}{8} \int d^2 \theta d^2 \bar{\theta} \, \mathcal{O}_{T^2}, \qquad (4.6)$$

where \mathcal{O}_{T^2} is

$$\mathcal{O}_{T^2} = \frac{1}{16} \mathcal{J}^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \mathcal{J}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} - \frac{5}{8} \mathcal{X} \bar{\mathcal{X}}. \tag{4.7}$$

The operator \mathcal{O}_{T^2} is defined in terms of the superfields of the Ferrara-Zumino (FZ) supercurrent multiplet [66]. The explicit form of $\mathcal{J}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$, \mathcal{X} , and \mathcal{O}_{T^2} for the Bagger-Galperin model (4.1) were computed in [25] by using results of [41]. We will extend this analysis in the next subsection.

In general, the vector superfield $\mathcal{J}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ and the complex scalar superfield \mathcal{X} of the FZ multiplet satisfy the following constraints:

$$\bar{D}^{\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{J}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = D_{\alpha}\mathcal{X}, \qquad \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{X} = 0.$$
 (4.8)

⁸We use the notation $D^2 := D^\alpha D_\alpha$, $W^2 := W^\alpha W_\alpha$, $\bar{D}^2 := \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{D}^{\dot{\alpha}}$, and $\bar{W}^2 := \bar{W}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}}$. For more detail concerning our notation we refer the reader to [25].

⁹In [65] Cecotti and Ferrara were the first to observe the flow at order α^2 where $\mathcal{O}_{T^2} = W^2 \bar{W}^2 + \cdots$



These constraints lead to 12 + 12 independent component fields that appear in $\mathcal{J}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ and \mathcal{X} as follows 10

$$\mathcal{J}_{\mu}(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) = j_{\mu} + \theta \left(S_{\mu} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sigma_{\mu} \bar{\chi} \right) + \bar{\theta} \left(\bar{S}_{\mu} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu} \chi \right) + \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} \theta^{2} \partial_{\mu} \bar{x} - \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} \bar{\theta}^{2} \partial_{\mu} \bar{x} \\
+ \theta \sigma^{\nu} \bar{\theta} \left(2T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{2}{3} \eta_{\mu\nu} \Theta - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\nu\mu\rho\sigma} \partial^{\rho} j^{\sigma} \right) - \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} \theta^{2} \bar{\theta} \left(\bar{\partial} S_{\mu} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu} \bar{\partial} \bar{\chi} \right) \\
- \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} \bar{\theta}^{2} \theta \left(\bar{\partial} \bar{S}_{\mu} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sigma_{\mu} \bar{\partial} \chi \right) + \frac{1}{2} \theta^{2} \bar{\theta}^{2} \left(\partial_{\mu} \partial^{\nu} j_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \partial^{2} j_{\mu} \right), \tag{4.9a}$$

$$\mathcal{X}(y,\theta) = \mathbf{x}(y) + \sqrt{2} \theta \chi(y) + \theta^{2} \mathbf{F}(y), \quad \chi_{\alpha} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} (\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \bar{S}_{\mu}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad \mathbf{F} = \frac{2}{2} \Theta + \mathrm{i} \partial_{\mu} j^{\mu}. \tag{4.9b}$$

The operators $T_{\mu\nu}$ and Θ are the conserved stress-energy tensor and its trace, while $(S_{\mu}{}^{\alpha}, \bar{S}_{\mu\dot{\alpha}})$ is the conserved d=4, $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetry current. The other operators in the FZ multiplet are required by supersymmetry. Note that, in general, j_{μ} is not a conserved vector.

The flow equation (4.6) for the Bagger-Galperin theory leads to a definition of a manifestly supersymmetric extension of the operator (2.3) and an associated flow for any d=4, $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetric QFT admitting a Ferrara-Zumino supercurrent multiplet [25]. In fact, up to total derivatives and the (on-shell) conservation equations (4.8), the following result holds:

$$\int d^4\theta \, \mathcal{O}_{T^2} = \left(T^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \Theta^2 \right) + \frac{3}{8} j_{\mu} \partial^2 j^{\mu} + \frac{3}{8} \partial_{\mu} \times \partial^{\mu} \bar{\mathbf{x}} - \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} \left(S_{\mu} \partial \bar{S}^{\mu} - \frac{9}{4} \bar{\chi} \bar{\partial} \chi \right)$$
+total derivatives + EOM . (4.10)

The first two terms in the first bracket are precisely the operator O_{T^2} of eq. (2.3), while the extra terms in \mathcal{O}_{T^2} are required by 4d, $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetry.

4.2 The Born-Infeld-ModMax case

The Lagrangian density for a Born-Infeld-like extension of the supersymmetric ModMax theory was derived in [47]. It takes the following form

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{susy-}\gamma \text{BI}} = \frac{\cosh(\gamma)}{4} \left\{ \int d^2\theta \, W^2 + \int d^2\bar{\theta} \, \bar{W}^2 + \int d^2\theta \, d^2\bar{\theta} \, W^2 \bar{W}^2 K(\mathbb{S}, \mathbb{P}) \right\}, \quad (4.11a)$$

with the superfield $K(\mathbb{S}, \mathbb{P})$ given by

$$K(\mathbb{S}, \mathbb{P}) = \frac{t - \sqrt{t^2 - 2t \left[\cosh(\gamma)\mathbb{S} + \sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{\mathbb{S}^2 + \mathbb{P}^2}\right] - \mathbb{P}^2 - \cosh(\gamma)\mathbb{S}}}{\cosh(\gamma)(\mathbb{S}^2 + \mathbb{P}^2)}. \tag{4.11b}$$

In the limit of $\gamma=0$ the Lagrangian (4.11) reduces to the Bagger-Galperin Lagrangian (4.1) upon identifying $t=1/\alpha^2$. The aim of this subsection is to prove that $\mathcal{L}_{\text{susy}-\gamma BI}$ satisfies the flow equation

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{susy-BI}}}{\partial \alpha^2} = \frac{1}{8} \int d^2 \theta d^2 \bar{\theta} \, \mathcal{O}_{T^2} \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{susy-BI}}}{\partial t} = -\frac{1}{8t^2} \int d^2 \theta d^2 \bar{\theta} \, \mathcal{O}_{T^2}. \tag{4.12}$$

A first step towards proving such a flow equation is to compute the Ferrara-Zumino multiplet, and then the operator \mathcal{O}_{T^2} of eq. (4.7), for the $\mathcal{L}_{\text{susy-BI}}$ Lagrangian. It is useful to rewrite the Lagrangian (4.11), and in particular $K(\mathbb{S}, \mathbb{P})$, in terms of the following superfields:

$$u = \frac{1}{8}D^2W^2$$
, $\bar{u} = \frac{1}{8}\bar{D}^2\bar{W}^2$, (4.13)

¹⁰The complex chiral coordinate y^{μ} is defined as $y^{\mu} = x^{\mu} + i\theta \sigma^{\mu}\bar{\theta}$, while the slashed derivatives are $\partial \!\!\!/ = \sigma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}$, $\bar{\partial}\!\!\!/ = \bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}$.



such that

$$S = -\frac{1}{2}(u + \bar{u}), \quad P = \frac{i}{2}(u - \bar{u}), \quad S^2 + P^2 = u\bar{u}.$$
 (4.14)

The superfield *K* then satisfies

$$K(u,\bar{u}) = \frac{u + \bar{u} - \operatorname{sech}(\gamma) \left[\sqrt{4t^2 - 8t \sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{u\bar{u}} + 4t \cosh(\gamma)(u + \bar{u}) + (u - \bar{u})^2} - 2t \right]}{2u\bar{u}}.$$
 (4.15)

The Ferrara-Zumino supercurrent for a large class of models of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{4} \int d^2\theta W^2 + \frac{1}{4} \int d^2\bar{\theta} \,\bar{W}^2 + \frac{1}{4} \int d^2\theta d^2\bar{\theta} \,W^2\bar{W}^2\Lambda(u,\bar{u}), \tag{4.16}$$

was computed in [41] by using superspace techniques for d=4, $\mathcal{N}=1$ old-minimal Poincaré supergravity.¹¹ We can readily use the results of [41] to write the expressions that we need for the FZ multiplet derived from $\mathcal{L}_{\text{susy-BI}}$. These are

$$\mathcal{X} = \frac{\cosh(\gamma)}{6} W^2 \bar{D}^2 \Big(\bar{W}^2 (\Gamma + \bar{\Gamma} - K) \Big), \tag{4.17a}$$

$$\mathcal{J}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \cosh(\gamma) \Big\{ -2iM_{\alpha} \bar{W}_{\dot{\alpha}} + 2iW_{\alpha} \bar{M}_{\dot{\alpha}} + \frac{1}{12} [D_{\alpha}, \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}] (W^2 \bar{W}^2) \cdot (\Gamma + \bar{\Gamma} - K) \Big\}$$

$$+ W^2 \bar{W}(\cdots) + \bar{W}^2 W(\cdots). \tag{4.17b}$$

Here $\Gamma = \Gamma(u, \bar{u})$ and $\bar{\Gamma} = \bar{\Gamma}(u, \bar{u})$ are

$$\Gamma(u,\bar{u}) = \frac{\partial (uK(u,\bar{u}))}{\partial u}, \qquad \bar{\Gamma}(u,\bar{u}) = \frac{\partial (\bar{u}K(u,\bar{u}))}{\partial \bar{u}}, \tag{4.18}$$

while the superfield M_{α} takes the following form:

$$iM_{\alpha} = W_{\alpha} \left\{ 1 - \frac{1}{4} \bar{D}^2 \left[\bar{W}^2 \left(K + \frac{1}{8} D^2 \left(W^2 \frac{\partial K}{\partial u} \right) \right) \right] \right\}$$
 (4.19a)

$$= W_{\alpha} \left(1 - 2\bar{u}\Gamma \right) + W\bar{W}(\cdots) + W^{2}(\cdots). \tag{4.19b}$$

Note that in (4.17b) and (4.19b) the ellipsis are quite involved terms that we avoided writing since they will not contribute to \mathcal{O}_{T^2} due to the nilpotency conditions $W_{\alpha}W_{\beta}W_{\gamma}=0$ and $\bar{W}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{W}_{\dot{\beta}}\bar{W}_{\dot{\gamma}}=0$. In fact, for our purposes, we can further simplify the expressions of $\mathcal{J}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ and \mathcal{X}

$$\mathcal{X} = \frac{4\cosh(\gamma)}{3} W^2 \bar{u} \Big(\Gamma + \bar{\Gamma} - K \Big) + W^2 \bar{W} (\cdots), \qquad (4.20a)$$

$$\mathcal{J}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \cosh(\gamma) \left\{ -4W_{\alpha} \bar{W}_{\dot{\alpha}} \Big(1 - \bar{u}\Gamma - u\bar{\Gamma} \Big) + \frac{1}{6} (D_{\alpha} W^2) (\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{W}^2) \Big(\Gamma + \bar{\Gamma} - K \Big) \right\}$$

$$+ W^2 \bar{W} (\cdots) + \bar{W}^2 W (\cdots). \qquad (4.20b)$$

Before continuing our analysis, it is worth mentioning that the condition for the general Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_{Λ} in (4.16) to be invariant under electro-magnetic duality transformation is

$$\operatorname{Im}\left\{\Gamma - \bar{\mathbf{u}}\Gamma^{2}\right\} = 0. \tag{4.21}$$

¹¹See [67] for a review of 4d, $\mathcal{N}=1$ old-minimal supergravity in the notation of [41].



The previous self-duality condition was introduced for the first time in [39, 40] where the general theory of $\mathcal{N}=1$ and $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric nonlinear duality invariant systems was developed. Under the condition (4.21), the supercurrent multiplet of the theory \mathcal{L}_{Λ} is also electro-magnetic duality invariant, see [41] for details. The $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetric Mod-Max theory is a special case of the analysis of [39–41] where the vector multiplet Lagrangian is not required to be analytic. It was in fact proven in [47] that the supersymmetric Born-Infeld-ModMax Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_{\text{susy-$\gamma$BI}}$, eq. (4.11), indeed satisfies (4.21). Exactly as in the non-supersymmetric case, this indicates that any deformation triggered by composite operators defined only in terms of the supercurrent should remain electro-magnetic invariant.

As a next step towards proving (4.12), we use equations (4.20a) and (4.20b) for the FZ superfields to compute $\mathcal{X}\bar{\mathcal{X}}$ and $\mathcal{J}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{J}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$. The first one can be easily computed to be

$$\mathcal{X}\bar{\mathcal{X}} = \frac{16\cosh^2(\gamma)}{9} W^2 \bar{W}^2 u \bar{u} (\Gamma + \bar{\Gamma} - K)^2. \tag{4.22}$$

The expression for $\mathcal{J}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{J}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ is more involved. It proves to be

$$\mathcal{J}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{J}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = 16\cosh^{2}(\gamma)W^{2}\bar{W}^{2}\left\{\left(1-\bar{u}\Gamma-u\bar{\Gamma}\right)^{2}+\frac{1}{9}u\bar{u}\left(\Gamma+\bar{\Gamma}-K\right)^{2}\right\}$$
$$-\frac{4\cosh^{2}(\gamma)}{3}W^{2}\bar{W}^{2}(D^{\alpha}W_{\alpha})^{2}\left(1-\bar{u}\Gamma-u\bar{\Gamma}\right)\left(\Gamma+\bar{\Gamma}-K\right). \tag{4.23}$$

Note that the second line in (4.23) is in principle problematic to prove the flow equation (4.12). In fact, it is clear that the derivative of $\mathcal{L}_{susy-BI}$ with respect to α^2 is

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{susy-BI}}}{\partial \alpha^2} = -\frac{t^2}{4} \cosh(\gamma) \int d^2 \theta d^2 \bar{\theta} W^2 \bar{W}^2 \frac{\partial K(u, \bar{u})}{\partial t}, \qquad (4.24)$$

where

$$\cosh(\gamma) \frac{\partial K(u, \bar{u})}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{u\bar{u}} \left\{ 1 - \frac{2t - 2\sinh(g)\sqrt{u\bar{u}} + \cosh(\gamma)(u + \bar{u})}{\sqrt{+4t^2 - 8t\sinh(\gamma)\sqrt{u\bar{u}} + 4t\cosh(\gamma)(u + \bar{u}) + (u - \bar{u})^2}} \right\}. \tag{4.25}$$

Therefore, for the flow (4.12) to hold the operator \mathcal{O}_{T^2} should be a functional of u and \bar{u} only. However, the term in (4.23) that includes the $(D^{\alpha}W_{\alpha})^2$ factor is incompatible with this statement.

The solution to this problem is the same as the one given in [25] for the $\gamma=0$ case.¹² In fact, it is enough to prove that, for any γ , the superspace equations of motion derived from the Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_{\text{susy-}\gamma\text{BI}}$, eq. (4.11), imply the following relation

$$W^2 \bar{W}^2 (D^\alpha W_\alpha) \equiv 0. \tag{4.26}$$

We refer the reader to Appendix A of [25] for a detailed discussion of this result for a large class of models that include the Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_{Λ} in eq. (4.16), and, in particular, also $\mathcal{L}_{\text{susy-}\gamma\text{BI}}$ in eq. (4.11). Notably, equation (4.26) is equivalent to the fact that the auxiliary field $D \propto D^{\alpha}W_{\alpha}|_{\theta=0}$ satisfies an algebraic equation of motion that sets it to zero up to terms at least linear in gaugino fields $\lambda_{\alpha} \propto W_{\alpha}|_{\theta=0}$. For the Born-Infeld-like ModMax theory, this fact — directly related to the preservation of supersymmetry on-shell — was also discussed in [47]. Note also that equation (4.26) alone is a weaker condition than imposing the whole set of superfield equations of motion. In fact, imposing (4.26) can be interpreted as only eliminating

 $^{^{12}}$ A similar problem and its solution were also described in the analysis of flow equations of 2d, $\mathcal{N}=(1,1)$ and $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ supersymmetric theories where off-shell supersymmetric multiplets include auxiliary fields [6,9,25].



the auxiliary field D from the vector multiplet and removing possible ambiguities of the off-shell description of supersymmetric Born-Infeld-like theories — see e.g. [25, 65, 68–70] for related discussions.

Upon imposing the condition (4.26), it is simple to show that the \mathcal{O}_{T^2} operator (4.7) takes the simple form

$$\mathcal{O}_{T^2} = \cosh^2(\gamma) W^2 \bar{W}^2 \left[\left(1 - \bar{u}\Gamma - u\bar{\Gamma} \right)^2 - u\bar{u} \left(\Gamma + \bar{\Gamma} - K \right)^2 \right], \tag{4.27}$$

and it is only a functional of u and \bar{u} . To conclude our analysis and finally show that the flow equation (4.12) is satisfied, it is now enough to compute explicitly (4.27) by using the expression of $K(u,\bar{u})$ (4.15) and the definitions of $\Gamma(u,\bar{u})$ and $\bar{\Gamma}(u,\bar{u})$ in (4.18). A straightforward calculation shows that the right hand side of (4.27) precisely coincides with (4.25) up to a multiplicative factor:

$$\mathcal{O}_{T^2} = -2t^2 \cosh(\gamma) \bar{W}^2 W^2 \frac{\partial K(u, \bar{u})}{\partial t}.$$
 (4.28)

By comparing (4.28) with (4.24) it follows that the flow equation (4.12) is satisfied. Remarkably, as for the bosonic case, the structure of the supersymmetric flow equation, and its supercurrent-squared operator, proves to be the same for any value of γ .

5 Conclusion

In this work, we have seen that the T^2 deformation of the ModMax theory is exactly the known Born-Infeld-type generalization of the ModMax theory. Much like the $\gamma=0$ case of this statement, which is the fact that the T^2 deformation of the free Maxwell theory in d=4 gives the usual Born-Infeld action, the flow can also be recast in $\mathcal{N}=1$ superspace, so that the supersymmetric extension of the ModMax-BI theory satisfies a supercurrent-squared flow. This ModMax-BI theory therefore belongs to a collection of other interesting theories which satisfy current-squared flows in various numbers of dimensions, such as the Dirac action in d=2 and the usual Born-Infeld action in d=4.

There remain many open questions and directions for future research. First, there is the important conceptual question of what is "special" about theories which satisfy T^2 flows. Many of the previously studied examples of such theories, like the Dirac and Born-Infeld Lagrangians, are related to strings and branes. It would be very interesting to understand whether there was a more fundamental reason why current-squared flows generate theories of this type, and to see whether there are other examples of interesting theories that satisfy T^2 flows or related differential equations.

One hint which may prove useful in answering this question is the relationship between T^2 flows and spontaneously broken symmetries. For instance, the Dirac action which describes the scalar transverse fluctuations of a brane is uniquely fixed by the fact that a brane spontaneously breaks a fraction of the Poincaré symmetry of the ambient space in which it is embedded. The fact that the ordinary 2d $T\overline{T}$ deformation generates the Dirac Lagrangian suggests that this flow has some relationship with spontaneously broken symmetries (which are then non-linearly realized). In the supersymmetric context, it is known the the Bagger-Galperin model which represents the supercurrent-squared deformation of a free super-Maxwell theory also possesses an extra non-linearly realized supersymmetry [31,71]. It was also shown that (Volkov-Akulov) Goldstino actions with non-linearly realised supersymmetry satisfy $T\overline{T}$ -like flows in d=2 [9,11,72] and d=4 [25]. One would like to sharpen these observations and perhaps understand whether a similar symmetry breaking pattern is relevant for the ModMax-BI theory.



There is a set of related questions concerning scalars (some rudimentary comments concerning $T\overline{T}$ -like flows for scalar theories are collected in Appendix B). For the ordinary Born-Infeld theory, it is clear that one can incorporate scalars X^M by promoting S_{BI} to the Dirac-Born-Infeld action S_{DBI} :

$$S_{\text{DBI}} = -T_p \int d^{p+1}\sigma \sqrt{-\det(g_{\mu\nu} + \alpha F_{\mu\nu})}, \qquad (5.1)$$

where $g_{\mu\nu}$ is the induced metric

$$g_{\mu\nu} = G_{MN} \partial_{\mu} X^{M} \partial_{\nu} X^{N} . {5.2}$$

However, it is less clear how to incorporate scalars into the ModMax-BI theory. One proposal for such a generalization was presented in [73], but it is not obvious that this is the unique modification which includes scalars, nor is it clear how to interpret this Lagrangian from the perspective of string theory or a modification of brane physics. Therefore, one might ask what principle one should use in order to define a "Mod-DBI" theory – that is, a two-parameter family of theories labeled by γ , λ , including both a gauge field and scalars, and which reduces to the ModMax-BI theory when the scalars are set to zero. In particular, given such a family, one could instead ask what happens when the *gauge* sector is set to zero. The result would be a two-parameter family of "ModDirac" theories which reduces to the Dirac Lagrangian when $\gamma = 0$. On the other hand, when $\lambda = 0$, this would yield a new γ -deformed theory of a scalar which is analogous to the ModMax theory.

One way to probe this question about scalars would be to enhance the amount of supersymmetry. In this work, we have focused on the case of $\mathcal{N}=1$ in four dimensions and considered theories of a vector superfield strength W_{α} . However, with extended supersymmetry such as $\mathcal{N}=2$, the supersymmetric completion of the ModMax-BI theory includes additional fields needed to complete the multiplet – see [61] for the $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetric extension of ModMax. In particular, there is a scalar sector. Given a suitable $\mathcal{N}=2$ version of the supercurrent-squared deformation, one could attempt to solve the superspace flow equation and then study the dynamics of the scalars in the resulting deformed theory. This gives a potentially different proposal for incorporating scalars into the ModMax-BI theory, which is not obviously related to the proposal of [73]. The study of Volkov-Akulov-Dirac-Born-Infeld actions with extended supersymmetry in various space-time dimensions and their relationship to string theory has received attention in the past. In particular, the standard $\gamma=0$, Born-Infeld case with extended supersymetry has been already studied in [39, 40, 74–90]. These works might be a starting point to look for $\mathcal{N}=2$, ModMax-BI deformations.

Even without scalars, there are at least other two ways in which one could try to generalize these observations relating ModMax-BI to T^2 flows.

1. One way is to look for theories of p-form field strengths for p>2 which satisfy an appropriate flow equation. It was pointed out in [29] that the T^2 deformation of a free 3-form field strength in six dimensions, whose undeformed Lagrangian is proportional to $F_{\mu\nu\rho}F^{\mu\nu\rho}$, does not give a duality-invariant 6d analogue of the Born-Infeld theory. However, one could ask whether there is any choice of form rank p, dimension d, and coefficient r in the operator $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$ in eq. (2.4) for which the deformation of a free p-form yields an interesting theory (for instance, with a square root structure). It would also be interesting to consider deformations involving chiral p-forms. Since the ModMax theory lifts to a 6d PST-like theory of a chiral tensor [46], it is natural to wonder about the relationship between T^2 and theories of this kind.



2. Another direction for generalization is to consider non-Abelian gauge theories. ¹³ The formalism developed in Section ³ does not apply in the non-Abelian case because, for each fixed spacetime trace structure x_j , there can be multiple inequivalent ways to perform the traces over gauge indices. An analogue of the master flow equation has not yet been written down in the non-Abelian case, but it is known that the $T\overline{T}$ deformation of free Yang-Mills does not agree with the non-Abelian DBI action in any number of spacetime dimensions. For instance, in d=2 the solution of the $T\overline{T}$ for free Yang-Mills coupled to scalars was discussed in [92]. Even though these deformed theories are no longer related to Born-Infeld in the non-Abelian case, they may still be interesting theories in their own right. It might therefore be worthwhile to consider the behavior of a non-Abelian ModMax-type theory under T^2 flows.

A final puzzle, which we have already alluded to before, is the brane interpretation of the ModMax family of theories. For instance, if the ModMax-BI theory exists at the quantum level, then it should have had a string theoretic interpretation as some deformation of the usual Born-Infeld theory on a brane. What deformation does this correspond to? Is there some brane configuration, perhaps with additional fluxes turned on or other string theory ingredients, which would engineer ModMax-BI in the sense that the brane would have a ModMax-BI theory living on its worldvolume? To our knowledge, stringy constructions of ModMax have not appeared yet. We leave this and the preceding interesting questions to future work.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Hongliang Jiang, Sergei Kuzenko, Emmanouil Raptakis, Savdeep Sethi, and Dmitri Sorokin for discussions and correspondence related to this work. We also thank Stephen Ebert, Hao-Yu Sun, and Zhengdi Sun for comments on an early draft of this manuscript. C.F. is supported by U.S. Department of Energy grant DE-SC0009999 and by funds from the University of California. L.S. is supported by a postgraduate scholarship at the University of Queensland. The work of G.T.-M. is supported by the Australian Research Council (ARC) Future Fellowship FT180100353, and by the Capacity Building Package of the University of Queensland.

A Proof of Determinant Condition

The goal of this Appendix is to prove that the stress-energy tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$ for any theory of an Abelian gauge field in four spacetime dimensions satisfies

$$\sqrt{\det(T)} = \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{1}{2} (\operatorname{tr}(T))^2 - \operatorname{tr}(T^2) \right). \tag{A.1}$$

To see this, we first recall from Section 3.1 that a general Lagrangian for an Abelian field strength $F_{\mu\nu}$ in four dimensions can be written as $\mathcal{L}(x_1, x_2)$ in terms of the two independent scalars x_1, x_2 , and that the associated stress-energy tensor is (in Euclidean signature)

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \delta_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{L} - 4 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_1} F_{\mu\nu}^2 - 8 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x_2} F_{\mu\nu}^4. \tag{A.2}$$

¹³Another interesting, but very different, connection between $T\overline{T}$ and non-Abelian gauge theory involves a 4*d* version of Chern-Simons as in [91].



At each fixed spacetime location x, the stress-energy tensor can therefore be written in components as a 4×4 matrix of the form

$$T = c_0 \mathbb{I}_4 + c_1 F^2 + c_2 F^4, \tag{A.3}$$

where \mathbb{I}_4 is the identity matrix and the c_i are numbers. We claim that any matrix of the form (A.3), where F is antisymmetric, satisfies (A.1). If the eigenvalues of the antisymmetric matrix F are λ_i , then the eigenvalues of T are $\hat{\lambda}_i = c_0 + c_1 \lambda_i^2 + c_2 \lambda_i^4$, for $i = 1, \dots, 4$. The eigenvalues of an antisymmetric matrix are purely imaginary and come in complex conjugate pairs, so we can take $\lambda_3 = \lambda_1^* = -\lambda_1$ and $\lambda_4 = \lambda_2^* = -\lambda_2$. It follows that $\hat{\lambda}_3 = \hat{\lambda}_1$ and $\hat{\lambda}_4 = \hat{\lambda}_2$. Hence, it holds

$$\sqrt{\det(T)} = \sqrt{\hat{\lambda}_1^2 \hat{\lambda}_2^2} = \pm \hat{\lambda}_1 \hat{\lambda}_2. \tag{A.4}$$

We can take the positive sign on the right side of (A.4) if the stress-energy tensor T is positive definite. On the other hand,

$$\frac{1}{2}(\operatorname{tr}(T))^{2} - \operatorname{tr}(T^{2}) = \frac{1}{2}(2\hat{\lambda}_{1} + 2\hat{\lambda}_{2})^{2} - (2\hat{\lambda}_{1}^{2} + 2\hat{\lambda}_{2}^{2})$$

$$= 4\hat{\lambda}_{1}\hat{\lambda}_{2}.$$
(A.5)

Therefore, assuming *T* is positive definite so that its determinant is positive, one has

$$\sqrt{\det(T)} = \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{1}{2} (\operatorname{tr}(T))^2 - \operatorname{tr}(T^2) \right),$$
 (A.6)

for the stress-energy tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$ of a general Abelian gauge theory in four spacetime dimensions.¹⁴

A similar result holds in any even number d = 2k of spacetime dimensions.¹⁵ The stress-energy tensor (3.10) for an Abelian gauge theory in any dimension takes the form

$$T = c_0 \mathbb{I}_4 + \sum_{i=1}^d c_i F^{2i} \,, \tag{A.7}$$

and if the eigenvalues of the antisymmetric $d \times d$ matrix F are denoted λ_i , then the eigenvalues of T are

$$\hat{\lambda}_i = c_0 + \sum_{i=1}^k c_i \lambda_i^{2i} \,. \tag{A.8}$$

Since the eigenvalues again come in complex conjugate pairs, we can choose the first k eigenvalues to be independent and then impose $\lambda_{k+1} = \lambda_1^* = -\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_d = \lambda_k^* = -\lambda_k$. This means that

$$\hat{\lambda}_{k+1} = \hat{\lambda}_1, \cdots, \hat{\lambda}_d = \hat{\lambda}_k, \tag{A.9}$$

and if the stress-energy tensor is positive definite, one then has

$$\sqrt{\det(T)} = \sqrt{\hat{\lambda}_1^2 \cdots \hat{\lambda}_k^2} = \hat{\lambda}_1 \cdots \hat{\lambda}_k. \tag{A.10}$$

¹⁴Since det(T) also satisfies equation (3.16), which applies to any 4×4 matrix, one could eliminate det(T) and express this condition as the vanishing of a particular combination of traces of powers of T.

¹⁵In the case of odd spacetime dimension, one must account for the fact that the field strength $F_{\mu\nu}$ has an unpaired zero eigenvalue but the others come in complex-conjugate pairs.



It is an elementary result in the theory of symmetric polynomials, which follows from Newton's identities, that the symmetric polynomial $\hat{\lambda}_1 \cdots \hat{\lambda}_k$ can be expressed in terms of power sums of the form $\hat{\lambda}_1^j + \cdots + \hat{\lambda}_k^j$, which in turn means that (A.10) can be expressed in terms of traces of powers of the matrix T. Explicitly, one has

$$\sqrt{\det(T)} = (-1)^k \sum_{\{m_j\}} \left[\prod_{j=1}^k \frac{1}{m_j! j^{m_j}} \left(-\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(T^j) \right)^{m_j} \right], \tag{A.11}$$

where the sum runs over all collections $\{m_j\}$ of non-negative integers which satisfy the constraint $m_1 + 2m_2 + \cdots + km_k = k$. For instance, in the case of a 6-dimensional Abelian gauge theory, one finds

$$\sqrt{\det(T)} = \frac{1}{6} \left((\operatorname{tr}(T))^3 - 3\operatorname{tr}(T^2)\operatorname{tr}(T) + 2\operatorname{tr}(T^3) \right). \tag{A.12}$$

However, beyond d=4 we see that such combinations are not related to bilinears in stress-energy tensors but rather products involving three or more stress-energy tensor factors. Therefore there does not appear to be any relationship between the combination $\sqrt{\det(T)}$ and any analogue of the $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$ operator for deformations of gauge theories in d>4.

Finally, there has been some interest [11,64] in $T\overline{T}$ -like deformations in higher dimension which involve other powers of the determinant of the stress-energy tensor, such as $[\det(T)]^{1/(d-1)}$. From the analysis of this Appendix, we see that such an operator can never be written in terms of traces of integer powers of the stress-energy tensor when the exponent is smaller than 1/2, at least in the case of a stress-energy tensor for an Abelian gauge theory. This is because $[\det(T)]^{1/N}$ will involve fractional powers of the eigenvalues $\hat{\lambda}_i$ whenever N>2, whereas polynomials in traces of integer powers of T can produce only integer powers of the $\hat{\lambda}_i$.

B General T^2 Flows for Scalar Theories

In the body of this paper, we have focused on theories whose only physical degree of freedom is an Abelian gauge field, such as the ModMax theory and its ModMax-BI extension. However, as was pointed out in the concluding comments of Section 5, it is natural to wonder about families of theories that involve a gauge field coupled to scalars – such as the Dirac-Born-Infeld (DBI) action – and how such theories interact with T^2 flows. The aim of this Appendix is to make some preliminary observations in this direction.

Any theory of a gauge field coupled to scalars must, of course, reduce to a pure gauge theory when the scalar sector is turned off, and must reduce to a scalar theory when the field strength is set to zero. Therefore, if such a coupled theory is driven by a T^2 flow, then as a consistency check we know that the pure gauge sector must satisfy a flow equation of the form developed in Section 3 for general gauge theories. A second consistency check is provided by the requirement that the coupled theory satisfy a version of the master flow equation for scalar fields when the gauge sector is turned off. As a first step towards understanding flows for coupled theories, one would like to repeat the general analysis of Section 3 in the case of a scalar field to obtain a second boundary condition for coupled flows. In this Appendix we will complete such a first step.

For simplicity, we will restrict our attention to theories of a single scalar field ϕ . We first make some general comments which apply in any spacetime dimension d.



B.1 Master Flow Equation for Scalars

In this subsection, we would like to obtain a general flow equation for a Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}(\phi)$ for a single scalar field ϕ deformed by some Lorentz scalar constructed from the stress tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$. Our discussion will parallel the derivation of the master flow equation for theories involving a gauge field in Section 3.1, although the scalar case is considerably simpler, which will motivate us to consider more general deformations.

We first note that any Lorentz invariant scalar that can be constructed from ϕ with one derivative per field is a function of the combination

$$x = \partial^{\mu}\phi \,\partial_{\mu}\phi \,. \tag{B.1}$$

Thus a general Lagrangian for a theory of a single scalar field can be written as $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}(x)$. The Hilbert stress tensor corresponding to this Lagrangian is

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \delta_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{L} - 2 \frac{\partial L}{\partial x} \cdot \frac{\delta x}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \Big|_{g=\delta}$$

$$= \delta_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{L} - 2 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x} \cdot \partial_{\mu} \phi \, \partial_{\nu} \phi \, . \tag{B.2}$$

First we will describe the independent scalars that can be constructed from this stress tensor. The determinant is especially simple, since in a component basis at a particular spacetime point p, $T_{\mu\nu}(p)$ is written as a linear combination of the identity matrix and the matrix $M_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\phi\,\partial_{\nu}\phi$. Because $M_{\mu\nu}$ is the outer product of a vector with itself, it is rank one and has only a single non-zero eigenvalue. To make this very explicit, if ν is the vector obtained by writing the components of $\partial_{\mu}\phi$ in a given basis at a fixed spacetime location p, then

$$M = \mathbf{v} \otimes \mathbf{v} . \tag{B.3}$$

It is an elementary fact from linear algebra that a $d \times d$ matrix M which can be written as the outer product $v \otimes v$ has one eigenvalue equal to $|v|^2$ and d-1 eigenvalues equal to zero. This will allow us to easily evaluate the eigenvalues of the matrix T, which can be written in components at a fixed point p as

$$T = c_0 \mathbb{I} + c_1 \mathbf{v} \otimes \mathbf{v} . \tag{B.4}$$

Here c_0 and c_1 are numbers which depend on the value of the Lagrangian and its derivatives at the point p, but which can be treated as constants for this local analysis. Owing to the outer product structure of the second term, the matrix T has d-1 eigenvalues equal to c_0 and a single eigenvalue equal to c_0+c_1x , where $x=|v|^2$ is the value of $\partial^\mu\phi\,\partial_\mu\phi$ at the point p. This means that, in an arbitrary number d of spacetime dimensions, the determinant of T is

$$\det(T) = \mathcal{L}^{d-1} \cdot \left(\mathcal{L} - 2x \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x} \right). \tag{B.5}$$

The other scalars that can be constructed from the stress tensor are traces of the form $y_k = tr(T^k)$. Using our result for the eigenvalues of T above, it is easy to write down a general formula for such traces:

$$y_k = \operatorname{tr}(T^k) = (d-1)\mathcal{L}^k + \left(\mathcal{L} - 2x\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}\right)^k.$$
 (B.6)

From the Cayley-Hamilton theorem, we know that the determinant det(T) can be written as a polynomial in the traces y_k . Furthermore, any trace y_k for k > d also satisfies a constraint which relates it to the lower traces y_j for $j = 1, \dots, k$. Thus a general flow equation for the



Lagrangian driven by a deforming operator O which is a scalar built from the stress tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$ is

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} = O(y_1, \dots, y_d). \tag{B.7}$$

For instance, the main operator of interest in this manuscript has been $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$, which can be written as

$$O_{T^2}^{[r]}(y_1, y_2) = y_2 - ry_1^2$$
 (B.8)

We can use the expressions (B.6) for the y_k to write a master flow equations for scalar theories in d dimensions. One has

$$y_1 = \operatorname{tr}(T) = \mathcal{L}d - 2x\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}, \qquad y_2 = \operatorname{tr}(T^2) = \mathcal{L}^2d - 4\mathcal{L}x\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x} + 4x^2\left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}\right)^2.$$
 (B.9)

Therefore, a general flow driven by the operator of $\mathcal{O}_{T^2}^{[r]}$ of equation (B.8) is described by the differential equation

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} = d(1 - rd)\mathcal{L}^2 + 4(rd - 1)\mathcal{L}x\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x} + 4(1 - r)x^2 \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}\right)^2. \tag{B.10}$$

This is the analogue of the master flow equation (3.12), but now for theories involving a single scalar rather than a gauge field. However, we note that in d>2 there are more scalar invariants associated with the stress tensor and one may therefore consider more general deforming operators. For instance, we can obtain another operator with the same mass dimension as $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$ by taking a square root of traces involving products of four stress tensors. We adopt the notation $O_{\sqrt{T^4}}^{[r_i]}$ for such an operator, which depends on three coefficients r_1, r_2, r_3 as

$$O_{\sqrt{T^4}}^{[r_i]}(y_1, \dots, y_4) = \sqrt{y_1^4 + r_1 y_1^2 y_2 + r_2 y_2^2 + r_3 y_4}.$$
 (B.11)

We will see below that, in d=4 spacetime dimensions, deforming the Lagrangian for a scalar theory by $\sqrt{\det(T)}$ is classically equivalent to deforming by an operator $O_{\sqrt{T^4}}^{[r_i]}$ for some choice of the constants r_i .

Before returning to the study of these deformations by more general $O(y_1, \dots, y_d)$ operators, we will first undertake an analysis of flows by the usual $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$ for scalar theories in arbitrary dimension.

B.2 General Analysis of $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$ Flows

Here we will focus on the master flow equation (B.10) for scalar field theories deformed by $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$. Since it is known that this flow equation has a solution of Nambu-Goto type in d=2, one might ask whether there are other solutions involving such a square root structure in d>2. This is the scalar analogue of the question of whether the Born-Infeld action (or its ModMax-BI extension) emerges as a T^2 flow in any dimension other than d=4, to which we have seen that the answer is no

We first note that, on dimensional grounds, any Lagrangian which depends only on λ and x can be written as

$$\mathcal{L}(\lambda, x) = \frac{1}{\lambda} f(\lambda x), \tag{B.12}$$



where we define $\xi = \lambda x$ as the dimensionless argument of the function f. This parameterization reduces the partial differential equation (B.10) to an ordinary differential equation for $f(\xi)$, namely

$$4(r-1)\xi^{2}(f'(\xi))^{2} + \xi f'(\xi) - (1 + 4(rd-1)\xi f'(\xi))f(\xi) + d(rd-1)(f(\xi))^{2} = 0.$$
 (B.13)

This is a quadratic equation in the quantity $f'(\xi)$ which can be solved to give

$$f'(\xi) = \frac{1}{8\xi(r-1)} \Big(4(rd-1)f(\xi) + \sqrt{8f(\xi)(2(d-1)(rd-1)f(\xi) - rd + 2r - 1) + 1} - 1 \Big), \quad (B.14)$$

where we have chosen the root consistent with $f'(\xi)$ being finite as $\xi \to 0$ with f(0) = 0. One can separate this differential equation as

$$\int_{f(\xi_0)}^{f(\xi)} \frac{df}{4(rd-1)f + \sqrt{8f(2(d-1)(rd-1)f - rd + 2r - 1) + 1} - 1} = \left[\frac{\log(\xi')}{8(r-1)}\right]_{\xi' = \xi_0}^{\xi' = \xi}.$$
 (B.15)

The integral on the left side of (B.15) is quite involved but can be evaluated in closed form in terms of inverse hyperbolic trigonometric functions using Mathematica. The result is not especially illuminating so we do not show it here; we include this integral expression for the solution only to emphasize that, for general r and d, the solution for a scalar deformed by $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$ is a fairly complicated implicitly defined function which is structurally similar to the result of $T\overline{T}$ deforming 2d Yang-Mills theory coupled to scalars [92] or deforming 2d Born-Infeld theory [30].

The implicit expression (B.15) simplifies for particular choices of the coefficient r. For instance, when r = 1, the quadratic equation for $f'(\xi)$ has the much simpler solution

$$f'(\xi) = \frac{f(\xi)(-1 + (d-1)f(\xi)d)}{\xi(-1 + 4(d-1))f(\xi)},$$
(B.16)

which can be integrated to yield the implicit equation

$$\log(f) + \frac{4-d}{d}\log(1 + f(d-d^2)) = \log(\xi).$$
 (B.17)

This equation is transcendental for generic d, but when d = 2, we see that the left side collapses to $\log(f) + \log(1 - 2f)$ and the solution is

$$f(\xi) = \frac{1}{4} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - 8\xi} \right).$$
 (B.18)

This is the familar result that the ordinary $T\overline{T}$ deformation applied to a free scalar seed theory in d=2 yields the Nambu-Goto Lagrangian.

Another choice for which the implicit expression simplifies is $r = \frac{1}{d}$, which gives

$$f'(\xi) = \frac{d - \sqrt{d^3 - 16d^2(d-1)f(\xi)}}{8(d-1)\xi}.$$
 (B.19)

This differential equation has a solution which can be written in terms of the product logarithm (Lambert *W* function), but no solution of square-root type.

Given the complexity of the general implicit solution (B.15), and the observation that miraculous simplifications were needed in order to obtain the Nambu-Goto action as a solution with d = 2 and r = 1, one might suspect that this is the *only* choice of the parameters r, d for which a square-root solution exists. This is easy to verify; we first make an ansatz of the form

$$f(\xi) = \frac{1}{a} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - 2a\xi} \right),$$
 (B.20)



where a is some constant. Substituting this ansatz into the ordinary differential equation (B.13) and expanding to second order in ξ yields the constraint

$$a = -8r - 2rd^2 + d(2+8r). (B.21)$$

Using this value of a in the differential equation and expanding to third order in ξ gives the condition

$$(-2+d)(-4r+d^3r^2-2d^2r(1+2r)+d(1+2r)^2).$$
 (B.22)

This equation is satisfied if either d = 2 or if r takes one of the values

$$r = \frac{1}{d}, \qquad r = \frac{d}{(2-d)^2}.$$
 (B.23)

We handle each of these cases separately.

- 1. d = 2. In this case, plugging the results for a and d back into the flow equation gives an equation which is satisfied if and only if r = 1. This reduces to the known case.
- 2. $r=\frac{1}{d}$. Substitution into (B.13) and expansion to order ξ^4 yields the constraint d=1. We reject this since we are interested in $T\overline{T}$ deformations of field theories ($d \geq 2$) rather than quantum mechanics; in one spacetime dimension, the expression $\mathcal{O}_{T^2}^{[r]}$ trivializes because the only component of the "stress tensor" is the Hamiltonian.¹⁶
- 3. $r = \frac{d}{(2-d)^2}$. Replacement of r with this value in the flow equation then gives two constraints: $d^2 4d + 4 = 0$ and $d^2 5d + 4 = 0$. The first condition requires d = 2 but the second requires either d = 1 or d = 4. Thus the two equations cannot be simultaneously satisfied and this choice is inconsistent.

This completes our check that a deformation of a free scalar theory by $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$ only produces the Nambu-Goto Lagrangian as a solution in the single case d = 2, r = 1.

Given this conclusion, one is tempted to consider deformations by other Lorentz scalars constructed from the stress tensor. For instance, in d > 2 dimensions one can deform the Lagrangian by a power of the determinant of the stress tensor, or by some function of the higher independent trace structures y_k defined in (B.6). We next turn to an investigation of some other deformations of this type in d = 4.

B.3 Other Stress Tensor Flows in d = 4

Another deformation constructed from $T_{\mu\nu}$ is $\sqrt{\det(T)}$. We note that this combination agreed with $O_{T^2}^{[r]}$ in the case of 4d gauge theory (up to overall scaling), but the two objects disagree for a scalar. In particular, it is no longer true that the eigenvalues of $T_{\mu\nu}$ come in pairs of equal $\hat{\lambda}_i$ since the symmetric tensor $\partial_\mu\phi\,\partial_\nu\phi$ cannot be written as the square of an antisymmetric tensor in the way that $F_{\mu\nu}^2$ could. Rather, in d=4, the determinant $\det(T)$ is instead equal to $\mathcal{L}^3\cdot\left(\mathcal{L}-2x\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial x}\right)$ as we saw in (B.5).

The combination $\sqrt{\det(T)}$ is one member of the general class of deformations (B.7) by some function of the traces $y_i = \operatorname{tr}(T^i)$. In particular, since any 4×4 matrix satisfies (3.16) regardless of its symmetry properties, we have

$$\det(T) = \frac{1}{24} \left((\operatorname{tr} T)^4 - 6\operatorname{tr}(T^2)(\operatorname{tr} T)^2 + 3\left(\operatorname{tr} T^2\right)^2 + 8\operatorname{tr}(T)\operatorname{tr}(T^3) - 6\operatorname{tr}(T^4) \right). \tag{B.24}$$

¹⁶Although we will not consider this case in the present work, see [93–95] for observations on $T\overline{T}$ -like deformations in (0+1)-dimensional systems.



To construct other deformations from the y_i , it will be convenient to record explicit expressions for these traces:

$$tr(T) = 4\mathcal{L} - 2x\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x},$$

$$tr(T^{2}) = 4\mathcal{L}^{2} - 4x\mathcal{L}\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x} + 4x^{2}\left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}\right)^{2},$$

$$tr(T^{3}) = 4\mathcal{L}^{3} - 6x\mathcal{L}^{2}\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x} + 12x^{2}\mathcal{L}\left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}\right)^{2} - 8x^{3}\left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}\right)^{3},$$

$$tr(T^{4}) = 4\mathcal{L}^{4} - 8x\mathcal{L}^{3}\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x} + 24x^{2}\mathcal{L}^{2}\left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}\right)^{2} - 32x^{3}\mathcal{L}\left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}\right)^{3} + 16x^{4}\left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}\right)^{4}.$$
(B.25)

As a check, plugging these trace expressions into (B.24) gives

$$\det(T) = \mathcal{L}^4 - 2x\mathcal{L}^3 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x},$$
 (B.26)

which matches (B.5). Therefore, a flow equation of the form

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} = \sqrt{\det(T^{(\lambda)})}$$
 (B.27)

is equivalent to the differential equation

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} = \sqrt{\mathcal{L}^4 - 2x\mathcal{L}^3 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}}.$$
 (B.28)

We also see that (B.28) is one example of the class of deformations driven by the operators $O_{\sqrt{T^4}}^{[r_i]}$ defined in (B.11), where the coefficients r_i are determined by (B.24).

As written, this flow equation is unsuitable because the argument of the square root need not be positive. For instance, consider the leading order correction in λ around a free theory of the form $\mathcal{L}_0 = cx$ where x is some constant. Then the operator on the right side of (B.28) is

$$\sqrt{\mathcal{L}_0^4 - 2x\mathcal{L}_0^3 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_0}{\partial x}} = \sqrt{-c^4 x^4}.$$
(B.29)

This is always a purely imaginary correction for any real value of the constant c and the kinetic term $x=\partial^\mu\phi\,\partial_\mu\phi$. To obtain a real deformation at leading order, one should instead consider the flow

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} = \sqrt{-\det(T^{(\lambda)})}$$

$$= \sqrt{2x\mathcal{L}^3 \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x} - \mathcal{L}^4}.$$
(B.30)

This differential equation has the solution

$$\mathcal{L}(\lambda, x) = \frac{x}{\sqrt{1 - 2\lambda x}}.$$
 (B.31)

Solutions of this form for flow equations driven by a power of det(T) were obtained in [11] using a different strategy.



One could ask whether there is a flow by some other $O(y_i)$ that reproduces the usual Dirac action. Consider the combination

$$O_{T^4}(y_i) = (\operatorname{tr} T)^4 - \frac{1}{3}\operatorname{tr}(T^2)(\operatorname{tr} T)^2 + \frac{1}{3}(\operatorname{tr} T^2)^2 - \operatorname{tr}(T^4)$$

$$= y_1^4 - \frac{1}{3}y_1^2y_2 + \frac{1}{3}y_2^2 - y_4.$$
(B.32)

The square root of this object again drives a flow by an operator of the form $O_{\sqrt{T^4}}^{[r_i]}$, but with a different choice of the coefficients r_i than the one which gives $\sqrt{\det(T)}$. Plugging in the expressions (B.25) for the traces gives

$$O_{T^4} = \left(\mathcal{L}^2 - 2\mathcal{L}x \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}\right)^2, \tag{B.33}$$

and therefore the flow equation

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} = \sqrt{O_{T^4}},\tag{B.34}$$

where we take the positive root, gives

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \lambda} = \mathcal{L}^2 - 2\mathcal{L}x \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x}.$$
 (B.35)

This differential equation has the solution

$$\mathcal{L}(\lambda, x) = \frac{1}{2\lambda} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 + 4\lambda x} \right). \tag{B.36}$$

Therefore, it is possible to obtain the Dirac Lagrangian as the solution to a stress tensor flow in d = 4, although one must use a different deformation $O_{\sqrt{T^4}}^{[r_i]}$ with a special choice of coefficients r_i , and it is not clear how one would motivate this particular combination.

References

- [1] A. B. Zamolodchikov, *Expectation value of composite field* $T\overline{T}$ *in two-dimensional quantum field theory*, arXiv:hep-th/0401146.
- [2] F. A. Smirnov and A. B. Zamolodchikov, On space of integrable quantum field theories, Nucl. Phys. B **915**, 363 (2017), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2016.12.014.
- [3] A. Cavaglià, S. Negro, I. M. Szécsényi and R. Tateo, $T\overline{T}$ -deformed 2D quantum field theories, J. High Energy Phys. **10**, 112 (2016), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2016)112.
- [4] S. Dubovsky, V. Gorbenko and M. Mirbabayi, *Natural tuning: Towards a proof of concept*, J. High Energy Phys. **09**, 045 (2013), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2013)045.
- [5] S. Dubovsky, V. Gorbenko and M. Mirbabayi, *Asymptotic fragility, near AdS*₂ *holography and T\overline{T}*, J. High Energy Phys. **09**, 136 (2017), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2017)136.
- [6] M. Baggio, A. Sfondrini, G. Tartaglino-Mazzucchelli and H. Walsh, $On\ T\overline{T}$ deformations and supersymmetry, J. High Energy Phys. **06**, 063 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP06(2019)063.



- [7] C.-K. Chang, C. Ferko and S. Sethi, *Supersymmetry and TT deformations*, J. High Energy Phys. **04**, 131 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP04(2019)131.
- [8] H. Jiang, A. Sfondrini and G. Tartaglino-Mazzucchelli, $T\overline{T}$ deformations with $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ supersymmetry, Phys. Rev. D **100**, 046017 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100.046017.
- [9] C.-K. Chang, C. Ferko, S. Sethi, A. Sfondrini and G. Tartaglino-Mazzucchelli, $T\overline{T}$ flows and (2,2) supersymmetry, Phys. Rev. D **101**, 026008 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.101.026008.
- [10] Y. Jiang, A pedagogical review on solvable irrelevant deformations of 2D quantum field theory, Commun. Theor. Phys. **73**, 057201 (2021), doi:10.1088/1572-9494/abe4c9.
- [11] G. Bonelli, N. Doroud and M. Zhu, $T\overline{T}$ -deformations in closed form, J. High Energy Phys. **06**, 149 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP06(2018)149.
- [12] R. Conti, S. Negro and R. Tateo, *The T\overline{T} perturbation and its geometric interpretation*, J. High Energy Phys. **02**, 085 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2019)085.
- [13] R. Conti, L. Iannella, S. Negro and R. Tateo, *Generalised Born-Infeld models, Lax operators and the TT perturbation*, J. High Energy Phys. **11**, 007 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2018)007.
- [14] S. Frolov, $T\overline{T}$ deformation and the light-cone gauge, Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. **309**, 107 (2020), doi:10.1134/S0081543820030098.
- [15] E. A. Coleman, J. Aguilera-Damia, D. Z. Freedman and R. M. Soni, $T\overline{T}$ -deformed actions and (1,1) supersymmetry, J. High Energy Phys. **10**, 080 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2019)080.
- [16] S. Frolov, $T\overline{T}$, $\widetilde{J}J$, JT and $\widetilde{J}T$ deformations, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **53**, 025401 (2019), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/ab581b.
- [17] A. J. Tolley, $T\overline{T}$ deformations, massive gravity and non-critical strings, J. High Energy Phys. **06**, 050 (2020), doi:10.1007/JHEP06(2020)050.
- [18] A. Sfondrini and S. J. van Tongeren, $T\overline{T}$ deformations as TsT transformations, Phys. Rev. D **101**, 066022 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.101.066022.
- [19] G. Jorjadze and S. Theisen, Canonical maps and integrability in $T\overline{T}$ deformed 2d CFTs, arXiv:2001.03563.
- [20] L. McGough, M. Mezei and H. Verlinde, *Moving the CFT into the bulk with* $T\overline{T}$, J. High Energy Phys. 10 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP04(2018)010.
- [21] A. Giveon, N. Itzhaki and D. Kutasov, $T\overline{T}$ and LST, J. High Energy Phys. 122 (2017), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2017)122.
- [22] A. Dei and A. Sfondrini, *Integrable spin chain for stringy Wess-Zumino-Witten models*, J. High Energy Phys. **07**, 109 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2018)109.
- [23] M. Baggio and A. Sfondrini, *Strings on NS-NS backgrounds as integrable deformations*, Phys. Rev. D **98**, 021902 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.98.021902.
- [24] N. Callebaut, J. Kruthoff and H. Verlinde, $T\overline{T}$ deformed CFT as a non-critical string, J. High Energy Phys. **04**, 084 (2020), doi:10.1007/JHEP04(2020)084.



- [25] C. Ferko, H. Jiang, S. Sethi and G. Tartaglino-Mazzucchelli, *Non-linear supersymmetry and TT-like flows*, J. High Energy Phys. **02**, 016 (2020), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2020)016.
- [26] J. Caetano, W. Peelaers and L. Rastelli, *Maximally supersymmetric RG flows in 4D and integrability*, J. High Energy Phys. **12**, 119 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2021)119.
- [27] M. Taylor, TT deformations in general dimensions, arXiv:1805.10287.
- [28] T. Hartman, J. Kruthoff, E. Shaghoulian and A. Tajdini, *Holography at finite cutoff with a* T^2 *deformation*, J. High Energy Phys. **03**, 004 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2019)004.
- [29] H. Babaei-Aghbolagh, K. B. Velni, D. M. Yekta and H. Mohammadzadeh, $T\overline{T}$ -like flows in non-linear electrodynamic theories and S-duality, J. High Energy Phys. **04**, 187 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP04(2021)187.
- [30] C. Ferko, Supersymmetry and irrelevant deformations, arXiv:2112.14647.
- [31] J. Bagger and A. Galperin, *New Goldstone multiplet for partially broken supersymmetry*, Phys. Rev. D **55**, 1091 (1997), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.55.1091.
- [32] I. Bandos, K. Lechner, D. Sorokin and P. K. Townsend, *Nonlinear duality-invariant conformal extension of Maxwell's equations*, Phys. Rev. D **102**, 121703 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.102.121703.
- [33] B. P. Kosyakov, *Nonlinear electrodynamics with the maximum allowable symmetries*, Phys. Lett. B **810**, 135840 (2020), doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2020.135840.
- [34] M. K. Gaillard and B. Zumino, *Duality rotations for interacting fields*, Nucl. Phys. B **193**, 221 (1981), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(81)90527-7.
- [35] G. W. Gibbons and D. A. Rasheed, *Electric-magnetic duality rotations in non-linear electrodynamics*, Nucl. Phys. B **454**, 185 (1995), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(95)00409-L.
- [36] G. W. Gibbons and D. A. Rasheed, SL(2,R) invariance of non-linear electrodynamics coupled to an axion and a dilaton, Phys. Lett. B **365**, 46 (1996), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(95)01272-9.
- [37] E. A. Ivanov and B. M. Zupnik, N = 3 supersymmetric Born-Infeld theory, Nucl. Phys. B **618**, 3 (2001), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(01)00540-5.
- [38] E. A. Ivanov and B. M. Zupnik, *New approach to nonlinear electrodynamics: Dualities as symmetries of interaction*, Phys. Atom. Nuclei **67**, 2188 (2004), doi:10.1134/1.1842299.
- [39] S. M. Kuzenko and S. Theisen, *Supersymmetric duality rotations*, J. High Energy Phys. **03**, 034 (2000), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2000/03/034.
- [40] S. M. Kuzenko and S. Theisen, *Nonlinear self-duality and supersymmetry*, Fortschr. Phys. **49**, 273 (2001), doi:10.1002/1521-3978(200102)49:1/3<273::AID-PROP273>3.0.CO;2-0.
- [41] S. M. Kuzenko and S. A. McCarthy, *Nonlinear self-duality and supergravity*, J. High Energy Phys. **02**, 038 (2003), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2003/02/038.
- [42] S. M. Kuzenko and S. A. McCarthy, On the component structure of Script N=1 supersymmetric nonlinear electrodynamics, J. High Energy Phys. **05**, 012 (2005), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2005/05/012.



- [43] S. M. Kuzenko, *Nonlinear self-duality in* $\mathcal{N}=2$ *supergravity*, J. High Energy Phys. **06**, 012 (2012), doi:10.1007/JHEP06(2012)012.
- [44] S. M. Kuzenko, *Duality rotations in supersymmetric nonlinear electrodynamics revisited*, J. High Energy Phys. **03**, 153 (2013), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2013)153.
- [45] I. Antoniadis, H. Jiang and O. Lacombe, $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetry deformations, electromagnetic duality and Dirac-Born-Infeld actions, J. High Energy Phys. **07**, 147 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2019)147.
- [46] I. Bandos, K. Lechner, D. Sorokin and P. K. Townsend, *On p-form gauge theories and their conformal limits*, J. High Energy Phys. **03**, 022 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2021)022.
- [47] I. Bandos, K. Lechner, D. Sorokin, and P. K. Townsend, *ModMax meets Susy*, J. High Energy Phys. 13 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2021)031.
- [48] S. M. Kuzenko, Superconformal duality-invariant models and $\mathcal{N}=4$ SYM effective action, J. High Energy Phys. **09**, 180 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2021)180.
- [49] S. I. Kruglov, On generalized ModMax model of nonlinear electrodynamics, Phys. Lett. B 822, 136633 (2021), doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2021.136633.
- [50] D. P. Sorokin, Introductory notes on non-linear electrodynamics and its applications, arXiv:2112.12118.
- [51] P. Pasti, D. Sorokin and M. Tonin, *Duality symmetric actions with manifest space-time symmetries*, Phys. Rev. D **52**, R4277 (1995), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.52.R4277.
- [52] P. Pasti, D. Sorokin and M. Tonin, *On Lorentz invariant actions for chiral p forms*, Phys. Rev. D **55**, 6292 (1997), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.55.6292.
- [53] P. Pasti, D. Sorokin and M. Tonin, *Covariant action for a D* = 11 *five-brane with the chiral field*, Phys. Lett. B **398**, 41 (1997), doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(97)00188-3.
- [54] S. I. Kruglov, Magnetic black holes with generalized ModMax model of nonlinear electrodynamics, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D **31**, 2250025 (2022), doi:10.1142/S0218271822500250.
- [55] D. Flores-Alfonso, B. A. González-Morales, R. Linares and M. Maceda, *Black holes and gravitational waves sourced by non-linear duality rotation-invariant conformal electromagnetic matter*, Phys. Lett. B **812**, 136011 (2021), doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2020.136011.
- [56] A. Bokulić, I. Smolić and T. Jurić, *Black hole thermodynamics in the presence of nonlinear electromagnetic fields*, Phys. Rev. D **103**, 124059 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.103.124059.
- [57] S. H. Mazharimousavi, A note on Reissner-Nordström black holes in the inverse electrodynamics model, Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 18, 2150155 (2021), doi:10.1142/S0219887821501553.
- [58] Y.-S. An, L. Li and F.-G. Yang, No Cauchy horizon theorem for nonlinear electro-dynamics black holes with charged scalar hairs, Phys. Rev. D **104**, 024040 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.104.024040.
- [59] K. Nomura and D. Yoshida, *Quasinormal modes of charged black holes with corrections from nonlinear electrodynamics*, Phys. Rev. D **105**, 044006 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.105.044006.



- [60] A. Ali and K. Saifullah, *Charged black holes in 4D Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity coupled to nonlinear electrodynamics with maximum allowable symmetries*, Ann. Phys. **437**, 168726 (2022), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2021.168726.
- [61] S. M. Kuzenko and E. S. N. Raptakis, *Duality-invariant superconformal higher-spin models*, Phys. Rev. D **104**, 125003 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.104.125003.
- [62] E. A. Ivanov and B. M. Zupnik, *New representation for Lagrangians of self-dual nonlinear electrodynamics*, arXiv:hep-th/0202203.
- [63] H. Babaei-Aghbolagh, K. B. Velni, D. M. Yekta and H. Mohammadzadeh, *Emergence of non-linear electrodynamic theories from TT-like deformations*, Phys. Lett. B **829**, 137079 (2022), doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2022.137079.
- [64] J. Cardy, *The TT* deformation of quantum field theory as random geometry, J. High Energy Phys. **10**, 186 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2018)186.
- [65] S. Cecotti and S. Ferrara, *Supersymmetric Born-Infeld Lagrangians*, Phys. Lett. B **187**, 335 (1987), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(87)91105-1.
- [66] S. Ferrara and B. Zumino, *Transformation properties of the supercurrent*, Nucl. Phys. B **87**, 207 (1975), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(75)90063-2.
- [67] I. L. Buchbinder and S. M. Kuzenko, *Ideas and methods of supersymmetry and supergravity: Or a walk through superspace*, Taylor and Francis, London, ISBN 9780750305068 (1998).
- [68] F. Gonzalez-Rey, I. Y. Park and M. Roček, On dual 3-brane actions with partially broken $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetry, Nucl. Phys. B **544**, 243 (1999), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(99)00024-3.
- [69] S. M. Kuzenko and S. J. Tyler, *On the Goldstino actions and their symmetries*, J. High Energy Phys. **05**, 055 (2011), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2011)055.
- [70] J. Bagger and A. Galperin, *The tensor Goldstone multiplet for partially broken supersymmetry*, Phys. Lett. B **412**, 296 (1997), doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(97)01030-7.
- [71] M. Roček and A. A. Tseytlin, *Partial breaking of global D* = 4 *supersymmetry, constrained superfields, and three-brane actions*, Phys. Rev. D **59**, 106001 (1999), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.59.106001.
- [72] N. Cribiori, F. Farakos and R. von Unge, 2D Volkov-Akulov model as a $T\overline{T}$ deformation, Phys. Rev. Lett. **123**, 201601 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.201601.
- [73] H. Nastase, Coupling ModMax theory precursor with scalars, and BIon-type solutions, arXiv:2112.01234.
- [74] R. R. Metsaev, M. Rakhmanov, and A. A. Tseytlin, *The Born-Infeld action as the effective action in the open superstring theory*, Phys. Lett. B **193**, 207 (1987), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(87)91223-8.
- [75] S. Paban, S. Sethi and M. Stern, Constraints from extended supersymmetry in quantum mechanics, Nucl. Phys. B **534**, 137 (1998), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(98)00518-5.
- [76] S. Paban, S. Sethi and M. Stern, Supersymmetry and higher derivative terms in the effective action of Yang-Mills theories, J. High Energy Phys. **06**, 012 (1998), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/1998/06/012.



- [77] Y.-H. Lin, S.-H. Shao, X. Yin and Y. Wang, *Higher derivative couplings in theories with sixteen supersymmetries*, Phys. Rev. D **92**, 125017 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.92.125017.
- [78] W.-M. Chen, Y.-t. Huang and C. Wen, *Exact coefficients for higher dimensional operators with sixteen supersymmetries*, J. High Energy Phys. **09**, 098 (2015), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2015)098.
- [79] E. Bergshoeff, M. Rakowski, and E. Sezgin, *Higher derivative super Yang-Mills theories*, Phys. Lett. B **185**, 371 (1987), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(87)91017-3.
- [80] A. A. Tseytlin, *Born-Infeld action, supersymmetry and string theory*, World Scientific, Singapore, ISBN 9789814493703 (2000), doi:10.1142/9789812793850 0025.
- [81] E. Bergshoeff, F. Coomans, R. Kallosh, C. S. Shahbazi and A. Van Proeyen, *Dirac-Born-Infeld-Volkov-Akulov and deformation of supersymmetry*, J. High Energy Phys. **08**, 100 (2013), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2013)100.
- [82] S. V. Ketov, Many faces of Born-Infeld theory, arXiv:hep-th/0108189.
- [83] S. F. Kerstan, Supersymmetric Born-Infeld from the D9-brane, Class. Quantum Grav. 19, 4525 (2002), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/19/17/304.
- [84] S. V. Ketov, A manifestly $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric Born-Infeld action, Mod. Phys. Lett. A **14**, 501 (1999), doi:10.1142/S0217732399000559.
- [85] S. V. Ketov, *Born-Infeld-Goldstone superfield actions for gauge-fixed D5- and D3-branes in 6d*, Nucl. Phys. B **553**, 250 (1999), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(99)00239-4.
- [86] S. V. Ketov, N = 2 superBorn-Infeld theory revisited, Class. Quantum Grav. 17, L91 (2000), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/17/15/102.
- [87] S. Bellucci, E. Ivanov and S. Krivonos, $\mathcal{N}=2$ and $\mathcal{N}=4$ supersymmetric Born-Infeld theories from nonlinear realizations, Phys. Lett. B **502**, 279 (2001), doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(01)00142-3.
- [88] S. Bellucci, E. Ivanov and S. Krivonos, *Towards the complete* $\mathcal{N}=2$ *superfield Born-Infeld action with partially broken* $\mathcal{N}=4$ *supersymmetry*, Phys. Rev. D **64**, 025014 (2001), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.64.025014.
- [89] S. Bellucci, E. Ivanov and S. Krivonos, Superbranes and super Born-Infeld theories from nonlinear realizations, Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. **102**, 26 (2001), doi:10.1016/S0920-5632(01)01533-X.
- [90] N. Berkovits and V. Pershin, Supersymmetric Born-Infeld from the pure spinor formalism of the open superstring, J. High Energy Phys. **01**, 023 (2003), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2003/01/023.
- [91] V. Py, $T\overline{T}$ deformations in curved space from 4D Chern-Simons theory, arXiv:2202.08841.
- [92] T. D. Brennan, C. Ferko and S. Sethi, A non-Abelian analogue of DBI from $T\overline{T}$, SciPost Phys. 8, 052 (2020), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.8.4.052.
- [93] D. J. Gross, J. Kruthoff, A. Rolph and E. Shaghoulian, $T\overline{T}$ in AdS_2 and quantum mechanics, Phys. Rev. D **101**, 026011 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.101.026011.



- [94] D. J. Gross, J. Kruthoff, A. Rolph and E. Shaghoulian, *Hamiltonian deformations in quantum mechanics,* $T\overline{T}$, and the SYK model, Phys. Rev. D **102**, 046019 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.102.046019.
- [95] S. Ebert, C. Ferko, H.-Y. Sun and Z. Sun, $T\overline{T}$ deformations of supersymmetric quantum mechanics, arXiv:2204.05897.